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older people’s rights and advocate for older 
people living in care homes.

For some older people, the last year has 
been almost too tough to bear: we have seen 
significant loss and bereavement, and the 
mental health impacts of this pandemic are 
considerable. But we don’t yet know the full 
extent of this, or the full extent of what older 
people have been through. That’s why, looking 
ahead, one of my priorities is to work with 
others on helping older people to regain their 
physical and mental health, and making sure 
that as we come through the pandemic no-one 
is left behind.

My heartfelt thanks to older people, to all those 
I’ve worked with over this last year, to my Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee for their wise 
counsel, and in particular to my own team for 
their compassion and commitment to older 
people, their care and empathy, and for all 
their support.

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

In this most extraordinary of years I want to 
start by paying tribute to the resilience of older 
people.

Over the last year I’ve spent time with older 
people, mainly on zoom, and listened to their 
experiences and stories about how they 
have coped during lockdown, how they have 
continued to help others, and their insights for 
what needs to happen as we transition through 
this dreadful pandemic. The many emotions 
and challenges are encapsulated well by 
Margaret who shared her story with us for my 
Leave No-One Behind report and webinar.

Margaret cares for her husband who has 
dementia and described how ‘Lockdown pulled 
the rug from under us overnight, taking away 
the secure network of support I have cobbled 
together to keep us safe in our own home’. In 
sharing the many challenges that she and her 
husband face she also described how ‘Good 
things also happened against expectation’.

This experience, of every day being a struggle, 
of worrying about what the future holds is one 
that will feel familiar to all of us. But I think 
many of us have also been fortunate in seeing 
and experiencing those good things that 
happened against our expectations. For me 
those good things have included the way in 
which people have reached out and supported 
each other, and the many new people and 
organisations that I’ve met and with whom I’m 
now working.

So in this annual report you will see examples 
of some of these partnerships, including the 30 
plus organisations and older people working 
together to stop the abuse of older people; 
the development of age-friendly communities, 
working with local authorities and supported 
by a Steering Group and learning through a 
Community of Practice; how we’ve connected 
with older people’s organisations and others 
across the UK to draw on as much expertise 
and learning as possible to help us protect 

Performance Report
Within the Performance Report, I have outlined my strategic priorities and main 
achievements over the past year, taking into account the key issues and risks that I have 
faced during 2020-21.  

Foreword
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to work better. I encourage service providers to face the challenge of change so that the needs 
of older people can be better met.

Keep under review the adequacy and effectiveness of law affecting 
the interests of older people in Wales.

I build the case for change and make this case to the Welsh Government and the Senedd. I 
establish what the issues and opportunities are through bringing together leading legal and 
other expertise and the experience and views of older people.

My role is underpinned by a set of unique powers that support me in reviewing the work of 
public bodies and holding them to account where necessary. 

My Role as Commissioner
These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Direction given by Welsh Ministers, 
in accordance with the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006, (the Act), Schedule 1 
Paragraph 10 (1) (b).

The role of the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is to protect and promote the rights of 
older people aged 60 and over throughout Wales, scrutinising and influencing a wide range of 
policy and practice to improve their lives. 

I provide help and support directly to older people through my casework team and I work to 
empower older people and ensure that their voices are heard and acted upon.  

My remit as Commissioner
As set out in the Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 2006, which established the role, 
the Commissioner’s remit is to:

Promote awareness of the interests of older people in Wales and of 
the need to safeguard those interests

I use my status as Commissioner to help set the agenda amongst decisionmakers at all levels 
about issues affecting older people and promote public discussion through the media.

One of my key roles is to be a powerful champion for older people leading and intervening in a 
wide and increasing range of debates and decision making across Wales

Promote the provision of opportunities for, and the elimination of 
discrimination against, older people in Wales

I advocate changes to the law, guidance and practice in order to address inequality. I present 
realistic and positive images of older people, recognising older people in all their diversity.

Older people are individuals and, whilst they might share some common concerns, their 
individual status remains undiminished. There should be no one view of older people and I aim 
to reflect this in my work.

I promote understanding of the nature of discrimination against older people in its most evident 
and its more hidden – but equally damaging – forms and sees tackling discrimination effectively 
as key to making progress across all policy areas, not just health and social care.

Encourage best practice in the treatment of older people in Wales

I aim to achieve this through a variety of methods, including bringing together people and 
evidence and - where necessary - carrying out research, to demonstrate effective practice. 

Most importantly I press for excellent services to be made widely and consistently available for 
older people. I encourage change to established practices where alternatives have been shown 

I provide help and support directly to 
older people through my casework team 
and I work to empower older people and 

ensure that their voices are heard and 
acted upon.  
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My Vision and Values
I want Wales to be the best place in the world to grow older. 

This means celebrating the fact that we are an ageing society and ensuring that we are all 
able to enjoy the opportunities it brings. It means being equipped to meet the challenges we 
may face as we grow older and ensuring that older people, particularly those who are most 
vulnerable, can access the support and services they need. 

It means welcoming and promoting innovation and good practice to inspire action, whilst holding 
people to account when necessary. 

And it means empowering older people by ensuring they understand their legal rights and how 
they can exercise them to make their voices heard and challenge poor practice, services and 
attitudes towards older people.

Internal Organisational Values and Behaviours
I collaborated with colleagues on the design of our organisational values and behaviours.  
These values drive the culture of our organisation and underpin our personal performance 
objectives. The values provide us with a tool we use to hold ourselves to account for the 
decisions that we make.

Commissioner’s Strategy 2019-22
In April 2019, I published my three-year strategy – Making Wales the Best Place in the World to 
Grow older – which sets out my priorities, the outcomes I want to see for older people, and the 
action I will take as Commissioner to help to make Wales the best place in the world to grow 
older.

My strategy was developed following an extensive programme of engagement throughout 
Wales – visiting 82 groups and engaging with over 3,000 people – to hear about their 
experiences of growing older, both positive and negative, and the changes they would like to 
see that would make Wales the best place in the world to grow older.

Alongside this, my team and I also engaged and consulted with a range of organisations and 
other stakeholders, as well as reviewing, and identifying gaps within, current evidence and 
policy, and drawing upon years of knowledge, experience and research.

This engagement and consultation supported the development of my three-year strategy 
– Making Wales the Best Place in the World to grow older – which is focused on three key 
priorities: 

• Ending ageism and age discrimination

• Stopping the abuse of older people

• Enabling everyone to age well

Alongside delivering a wide range of work against these priorities, which is set out below, my 
team and I work with partners and key stakeholders to influence policy and practice at both a 
national and local level, as well as scrutinising public bodies and holding them to account when 
necessary.
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Snapshot of the year 2020-21

July

Begins work with the EHRC 
in Wales to examine whether 
older people’s rights have 
been suffi  ciently protected 
during the pandemic, 
requesting evidence from 
Welsh Government. 

Calls on the Welsh 
Government to repeal 
measures in the Coronavirus 
Act that put older people’s 
rights at risk.

August

Publishes ‘Leave No-One 
Behind’, which sets out the 
action needed to ensure 
older people are not left 
behind as Wales begins its 
recovery.

Welcomes ‘Into Sharp Relief’ 
report, which cites her 
evidence to the Senedd’s 
Equality, Local Government 
and Communities 
Committee about the impact 
of the pandemic on older 
people.

September 

Publishes position paper on 
care homes visits and calls 
for renewed action to enable 
safe visits to care homes in 
Wales. 

Plans research relating to 
the services and support 
available in Wales for older 
people who are experiencing 
abuse. 

April 2020

Calls for older people’s 
rights to be protected 
following concerns relating 
to Do Not Attempt CPR 
notices and blanket 
treatment decisions.  

Establishes the Stopping 
Abuse Action Group to 
ensure that older people 
can get the support they 
need to keep them safe and 
protected.

May

Raises concerns about the 
impact of the pandemic 
on older people’s rights 
and calls  on the EHRC to 
examine whether rights have 
been suffi  ciently protected. 

Begins virtual engagement 
sessions with older people 
across Wales to hear 
their experiences of the 
pandemic and what support 
and changes are required.

June

Invites older people living in 
care homes, their families 
and friends and staff  to 
share their experiences 
and publishes Care Home 
Voices. 

Distributes a Covid-19 
information pack that 
provides information about 
keeping older people safe 
from abuse and crime.

January

Welcomes announcement 
that following her calls the 
upper-age limit of 74 for 
crime survey data will be 
removed. 

Establishes the Age-friendly 
Steering Group to help 
guide her work with local 
authorities to support them 
to become age-friendly 
communities and members 
of the World Health 
Organization Network.

February

Meets Home Offi  ce Minister 
to discuss the Domestic 
Abuse Bill and the changes 
needed to help older people

Holds training sessions 
to empower older 
people to recognise and 
challenge ageism and age 
discrimination.

March 2021

Welcomes new data that 
reveals an increase in the 
number of new Pension 
Credit claimants during 
her campaign to increase 
uptake. 

Welcomes cross-party 
support for calls to take 
action to tackle the abuse of 
older people during the next 
Senedd term.

October

Holds a webinar attended 
by over 350 delegates to 
explore eff ective ways to 
take forward the calls for 
action included in her Leave 
No-One Behind report.

Works with a Member of 
the Senedd to support the 
establishment of a new 
Cross-Party Group on 
Intergenerational Solidarity. 

November

Welcomes consultation on 
Welsh Government transport 
strategy, which refl ects 
concerns raised by her in 
work on transport to health 
services and issues shared 
by older people.

Holds event to discuss 
how to improve the 
accommodation and support 
needs of older people who 
need to escape abuse.  

December

Urges older people to join 
her in responding to the 
Welsh Government’s draft 
Strategy for an Ageing 
Society to ensure their 
voices are heard. 

Gives evidence to the 
Senedd Health, Social Care 
and Sport Committee on the 
impact of the pandemic on 
older people.
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2020-21 in Numbers

567

43

336

1,171,300

188

2.5bn

£19.2m

Number of older people supported by the 
Commissioner’s Casework Team. Total cases for 
2020-21 was 643 - a 14% increase compared with 

previous year

Number of engagement sessions held or attended 
to hear directly from older people. 584 older people 

took part in these sessions in total

Members of Commissioner’s ‘Together We 
Are Stronger’ Facebook group, set up to share 

community information about the pandemic

Number of Twitter impressions during 2020-21

Number of news items relating to the 
Commissioner’s work

‘Opportunities to see’ news items relating to the 
Commissioner’s work across a wide range of 

publications

Advertising value equivalent of Commssioner’s 
news coverage.

255,886 Number of people reached with posts from the 
Commissioner’s Facebook Page

£

Annual Report
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The Covid-19 pandemic meant that the focus 
of my work shifted significantly, and that plans 
relating to a number of key pieces of work due to 
be delivered in 2020-21 had to change. 

Despite this, as you will see from this report, my 
work during 2020-21 was still strongly focused 
on the priorities set out in my 2019 Strategy: 
ending ageism and age discrimination, stopping 
the abuse of older people and enabling everyone 
to age well. 

The issues we have seen relating to older 
people’s rights, for example, reflect a society 
where ageism is still common, and my work 
during 2020-21 to protect and promote older 
people’s rights, together with my calls for action 
and change across a range of issues, have been 
crucial in helping to ensure that older people are 
not discriminated against because of their age.

Similarly, through my work to influence the action, decisions and planning of the Welsh 
Government and other public bodies, I have sought to ensure that the right policy and practice is 
in place to ensure that older people can participate in their communities and access the services 
and support they may need – which is vital to enable people to age well. 

Despite the challenges presented by the pandemic, engagement with older people has also 
remained a priority, and I have held regular engagement sessions to hear directly from older 
people throughout Wales and ensure that my work has continued to be guided by their voices 
and experiences and the issues that matter most to them.

Delivering against my priorities
case-by-case basis. 

Following this, the Chief Medical Officer and 
Chief Nursing Officer for Wales jointly wrote 
to NHS Wales Chief Executives and Directors 
to remind them of their duties relating to 
DNACPR and consultation with patients, citing 
the concerns I had raised

The Welsh Government also established the 
Covid-19 Moral and Ethical Guidance for 
Wales Advisory Group, which brings together 
a range of experts to provide advice and 
guidance on moral, ethical, culture specific 
and faith considerations, as well as any 
emerging moral and ethical dilemmas, relating 
to Covid-19.  

Partnership work with 
the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission in 
Wales
Due to significant shared concerns about 
the experiences of older people during the 
Covid-19 pandemic, in particular those living 
in care homes, I called for an investigation 
and worked in partnership with the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission in Wales to 
explore whether potential breaches of older 
people’s human rights had occurred and to 
assess whether the Welsh Government and 
other public bodies had complied with their 
relevant equality and human rights duties in 
response to the pandemic. 

In order to understand decision-making 
processes, and whether the approaches taken 
met responsibilities relating to equality and 
human rights legislation, we jointly requested 
evidence from the Minister for Health and 
Social Services relating to several key areas: 
testing for care home residents and staff, 

A key part of my role is ensuring that the 
rights of older people are protected and 
promoted, and this has been particularly 
important throughout the pandemic. 

I have closely scrutinised the action 
taken by the Welsh and Westminster 
Governments, and other public bodies, 
robustly challenging decisions that would 
put older people’s rights at risk, and calling 
for action to ensure that people’s rights are 
upheld.

Do Not Attempt CPR 
Notices
I raised concerns with the Welsh Government 
about the use of Do Not Attempt CPR 
(DNACPR) Notices, after I became aware 
that some vulnerable patients in Bridgend, 
including older people, had felt pressurised to 
complete a DNACPR form following a letter 
from their GP surgery in March 2020 which 
made them feel worthless and that their lives 
didn’t matter.

I stated that the letter was shameful and 
unacceptable, and I was concerned that 
similar correspondence may have been 
circulated in other areas, or that blanket, 
discriminatory decisions were being made 
about the treatment options that would 
be available to older people. I was also 
contacted by older people, family members 
and Members of the Senedd in other parts of 
Wales who shared similar concerns. 

I met with the Deputy Minister for Health and 
Social Services to call for stronger leadership 
and guidance from health boards and the 
Welsh Government, to ensure that older 
people’s fundamental rights would be upheld 
and that decisions relating to DNACPR and 
other treatment options would be made on a 

Protecting Older People’s Rights

The Covid-19 pandemic meant that the 
focus of my work shifted significantly, 

and that plans relating to a number of 
key pieces of work due to be delivered in 

2020-21 had to change. 
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Challenging legislation 
that put older people’s 
rights at risk
The Coronavirus Act, passed in March 2020 as 
an immediate reaction to the pandemic, gave 
local authorities the power to limit people’s 
rights to have their needs assessed and 
access the social care support they require. 

Whilst no local authority formally enacted 
these measures, I was concerned that older 
people’s rights remained at risk while they 
were in place.  

I therefore called for these sections of the 
Coronavirus Act to be repealed at the earliest 
opportunity to ensure that older people’s rights 
would be upheld, and urged older people and 
stakeholders throughout Wales to join my calls 
and make their voices heard.

I re-iterated my calls when I gave evidence to 
Senedd Cymru’s Equality, Local Government 
and Communities Committee Inquiry into 
Covid-19 and its impact, highlighting the 
importance of ensuring that older people 
throughout Wales could access the services 
they are entitled to. The Committee report, 
Into Sharp Relief, published in August 2020 
recommended that the Welsh Government 
should ‘immediately ‘switch off the measures 
in the Coronavirus Act 2020 which relax social 
care and mental health duties’, citing my 
evidence and work to protect older people’s 
rights. 

I welcomed the announcement from the Welsh 
Government that, following a consultation, 
the provisions within the Act that gave local 
authorities the power to limit older people’s 
rights would be suspended.

access to personal protective equipment, and 
care home visits. 

Whilst some information was provided about 
the way key policies were determined, which 
was scrutinised by me and my team, and 
the EHRC in Wales, there were gaps in the 
evidence and a number of the points raised 
with the Minister were not addressed. 

The Minister was therefore asked to provide 
additional evidence to demonstrate the ways 
that the impact of key decisions had been 
considered and assessed.

Given the different roles and powers of my 
office and the EHRC in Wales, and to avoid 
duplication of effort, it was agreed that this 
additional evidence would be reviewed by 
the EHRC, to determine any action needed 
if failures are identified that have resulted in 
older people’s rights not being sufficiently 
protected. This could potentially include a form 
of enforcement action, which would be taken 
forward using the EHRC’s statutory powers 
under the Equality Act. 

I therefore began work to examine the lessons 
the Welsh Government had learnt from its 
response to the early stages of the pandemic, 
and the ways these have been applied to 
strengthen the protection and promotion of 
older people’s rights. 

I identified a number of changes that had 
been introduced following my intervention 
with EHRC in Wales and the concerns raised, 
including improvements relating to the use of 
impact assessments and the creation of a new 
working group to improve staff awareness and 
training, and share good practice. In addition, 
the Welsh Government advised that there has 
been increased engagement with older people 
and care home residents, to involve them 
more in decision-making. 

I called for 
sections of the 

Coronavirus Act to 
be repealed at the 

earliest opportunity 
to ensure that older 

people’s rights would 
be upheld

Empowering older 
people to recognise and 
challenge ageism
As delivering training sessions face-to-
face was not possible during 2020-21 due 
to the pandemic, I developed an online 
training course so I could continue my work 
to empower older people to recognise and 
challenge ageism and age discrimination. 

The training course is designed to help 
participants to identify ageism and age 
discrimination in a range of settings – such as 
the workplace, health, care and other services, 
and within the media – as well as exploring 
the ways that ageism can be challenged. It 
also covers the legislation that can be used to 
challenge ageism and the organisations that 
can provide information, advice and support if 
someone sees or experiences ageism.

25 older people from across Wales took part 
in these sessions, and feedback was very 
positive. Participants said they particularly 
valued the discussion and debate within the 
sessions, which helped them to understand 
the different ways that ageism and age 
discrimination may present itself and the 
impact these can have when they occur. As a 
result of this positive feedback, further similar 
sessions are planned for 2021-22.
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•  Making testing available for residents 
and staff. 

•  Ensuring residents could access NHS 
treatment and services they may need 
(including for Covid-19.)

•  Providing support and guidance to care 
homes, including training resources for 
care staff. 

•  Providing emergency funding for care 
homes due to increased costs. 

•  Capturing and publishing information 
about levels of infection and deaths to 
inform decisions relating to policy and 
resource allocation. 

Whilst progress was made in many of the 
areas above, the Welsh Government’s testing 
policy initially excluded care home residents 
and staff, something that greatly concerned 
me, particularly given the growing evidence of 
the potential risk of asymptomatic transmission 
of Covid-19, and the rapidly increasing number 
of Covid cases in care homes. 

I continued to raise this issue with the Deputy 
Minister for Health and Social Services and 
make the case for testing to be available to 
care homes, which led to several changes to 
testing policy, most notably in May, when it 
was announced that Covid-testing would be 
made available to older people and care staff 
in all care homes in Wales.

Older people living in care homes – often 
some of the most vulnerable individuals 
within society – have been at significant 
risk from Covid-19, and hundreds have 
sadly lost their lives. Many more have 
seen a decline in their mental and physical 
health and well-being, or will be mourning 
the loss of their friends and peers. 

Throughout the pandemic, we’ve seen 
the dedication and compassion of care 
staff throughout Wales who have gone 
over and above to ensure older people 
were supported, under the most difficult 
circumstances. 

I have therefore had a significant focus on 
protecting and supporting older people 
living in care homes, ensuring that their 
voices have been heard, that care homes 
could access the resources and support 
they needed to keep older people safe 
and well, and that older people are not left 
behind as restrictions were eased and lifted 
in other parts of society.

Response to the early 
stages of the pandemic
During the early stages of the pandemic, older 
people and their families raised significant 
concerns with me about issues and challenges 
facing care homes in Wales, and the potential 
risks to residents and staff. 

In response, I called for a range of action from 
the Welsh Government to protect people living 
and working in care homes, including: 

•  Ensuring the adequate and consistent 
supply and delivery of vital Personal 
Protective Equipment (and other 
infection control materials) to care 
homes. 

Protecting and supporting older 
people living in care homes

to unacceptable delays in some care homes 
obtaining vital PPE and accessing testing / test 
results. 

Many of those who responded felt there had 
not been a sufficient focus on protecting and 
supporting people living and working in care 
homes, and that there was often a limited 
understanding amongst public bodies about 
the policies and support care homes needed 
to keep older people safe and well. 

The findings of the report indicated that many 
of the issues and challenges highlighted could 
have potentially been avoided, through more 
effective planning and engagement with care 
homes at an earlier stage, and the provision of 
clear, practical information and guidance. 

I called for the experiences within the report 
to be used to shape the action being taken 
by the Welsh Government and other public 
bodies to ensure that care homes were better 
supported and protected, and for the voices 
of older people, their loved ones and care 
home workers to be central in shaping policy. 
In addition, I called for immediate action and 
improvements across a range of key areas: 

•  Meaningful engagement with care home 
residents, families, friends and care 
home workers 

•  Enabling safe visits to care homes

•  Enabling visits from professionals, 
including care home inspections

•  Ensuring care homes could access 
financial support 

I also re-iterated my call for the Welsh 
Government to publish a specific plan of action 
for care homes, to provide details of the action 
that would be taken, and when this would be 
delivered.

Care Home Voices Report
As the tragic situation in our care homes 
unfolded, the I grew concerned that the voices 
of older people and their families were not 
being sufficiently heard, meaning crucial 
knowledge and expertise was often missing 
when policies and decisions were being made. 

I asked older people living in care homes, 
their families and friends, and care staff to 
share their experiences of the pandemic 
and lockdown, as well as their views on the 
action needed to protect and support people 
living and working in care homes. In addition, 
I asked people to share examples of action 
and good practice that was making a positive 
difference to older people’s lives. 

Over 120 people responded to share their 
experiences and crucial information, via an 
online questionnaire, and by phone, letter and 
email. I also arranged engagement sessions 
with older people living in care homes in north 
and south Wales so I could speak to them 
directly about their experiences in more detail. 

The information shared formed the basis of 
my Care Home Voices report, which was 
published in June 2020. The report covered a 
range of key areas relating to the response to 
the pandemic and the impact on older people, 
including testing, information and guidance, 
visits from loved ones, the impact on day-to-
day life and the impact on health and well-
being. Direct quotes from older people, family 
members and care home managers and 
staff about their experiences were included 
throughout the report. 

Whilst there were some positive responses, 
particularly examples of outstanding care 
being provided by care staff, I found that care 
homes had faced a wide range of issues and 
challenges, which caused significant concern, 
stress and anxiety. In addition, there was 
often a significant disconnect between what 
was being promised at a policy level and what 
was being delivered on the ground, which led 
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Enabling safe visits to care 
homes
When the pandemic began, many care homes 
closed their doors to visitors in an effort to 
prevent Covid from entering and putting older 
people at risk. However, this meant that older 
people living in care homes throughout Wales 
were missing out on crucial face-to-face visits 
from loved ones, as well as opportunities 
to leave the care home. In addition, many 
professionals – such as health professionals 
or social workers – were unable to visit. 

Throughout the first lockdown, I called on the 
Welsh Government to take action to enable 
safe visits, and engaged with care home 
providers and key organisations, including 
Public Health Wales and the Welsh Local 
Government Association, to identify the ways 
that visits could be safely enabled. 

The Welsh Government subsequently 
published guidance relating to care home 
visits, which meant that many older people 
and their families could be reunited during the 
summer months.

However, as the majority of these visits took 
place outdoors, I was concerned that older 
people and their families would be separated 
again unless action was taken to enable safe 
visits inside the care home. 

I therefore published a briefing paper, drawing 
on my Care Home Voices report and further 
engagement with older people and their 
families, which set out why enabling safe visits 
was crucial for older people’s mental and 
physical health and well-being. 

In the paper, I called for risks relating to 
visits to be assessed on an individual basis, 
taking account of the differences between 
individuals and the needs they may have, and 
the differences between care homes, as these 
could affect potential risks significantly. 

Action plan for care 
homes
Due to the impact of the pandemic on older 
people living in care homes, I called on the 
Welsh Government to publish a care home 
action plan to clearly set out details of the 
action that would be taken to protect and 
support residents and staff.

Alongside providing assurance to people living 
and working in care homes, the plan would 
allow constructive and responsible scrutiny of 
the decisions being made and the action being 
taken by the Welsh Government and other 
public bodies. 

I called for the action plan to cover the 
following key areas: 

•  Testing of residents and care home staff 

•  Supply of PPE

•  Access to healthcare services including 
GP support and hospital treatment

•  Access to mental health support 
(including bereavement support) 

•  Guidance and information for care 
homes, older people and their families 
and friends to enable safe visiting 

•  Measures to enable safe visiting from 
social workers, other advocates and 
inspections from Care Inspectorate 
Wales 

•  Access to ongoing training and peer 
support for care home managers and 
staff 

•  Provision of temporary care facilities 
/ step down facilities to support safe 
discharges from hospital 

•  Financial support for care homes 
to ensure sustainability during this 
pandemic

I welcomed the publication of the Welsh 
Government’s action plan in July 2020, which 
reflected the calls for action included in my 
Care Home Voices report. 

further announcement confirmed that indoor 
visits could begin again in March. 

I continued to raise the issue of care home 
visits during meetings with the Deputy Minister 
for Health and Social Services, to discuss 
how further changes could be made to 
visiting arrangements that would allow greater 
flexibility and offer greater freedoms to older 
people living in care homes, such as removing 
limits on who could visit, enabling visits outside 
of the care home and ensuring that safety 
measures when an ‘outbreak’ occurred were 
not disproportionate.

I also continued to monitor the implementation 
of the guidance, to ensure that visits were 
taking place in line with current policy, which 
included providing support to older people and 
their families who were experiencing difficulties 
visiting their loved ones. 

I called on the Welsh 
Government to take 

action to enable safe 
visits, and engaged 

with care home 
providers and key 

organisations to 
identify the ways 

that visits could be 
safely enabled

Alongside this, the paper also set out why the 
risks to residents and staff due to potential 
Covid transmission from visits needed to be 
considered against the risk to older people 
living in care homes if their physical and 
mental health declined as a result of prolonged 
separation from their family and friends. 

In addition, I highlighted potential action that 
could be taken to ensure a more enabling 
approach and for visits to go ahead safely, 
including:

•  Improved support for care homes and 
staff

•  Increased testing 

•  Changes to care home environments 

•  Recognising family members as 
‘designated visitors’ and providing them 
with access to testing, PPE and training

Following the publication of the briefing paper, 
and subsequent engagement with the Welsh 
Government and other public bodies, including 
Public Health Wales, it was announced that 
two pilot projects would be launched to support 
safe visits. The first pilot introduced the use of 
lateral flow testing to check visitors, while the 
second made ‘visiting pods’ available to care 
homes in order to create additional space for 
visits to go ahead safely. 

Lateral flow testing is now being widely used 
by care homes throughout Wales to check 
visitors (a negative test result is required to 
enter), and further pods were made available 
to care homes following the initial pilot. 

Following the suspension of care home 
visits again in January as part of the national 
lockdown in Wales, I called for safe care home 
visits to be allowed to go ahead despite the 
‘Level 4’ restrictions, particularly given the 
protection that the coronavirus vaccine would 
provide to care home residents. The Welsh 
Government subsequently announced in 
February that this was being examined, and a 
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the Vaccines Programme Stakeholder Forum), 
which provided ongoing opportunities to share 
any concerns and issues. 

I also provided several briefings to the Chair of 
the Vaccines Programme Board (also shared 
with the Deputy Minister), setting out the 
issues and concerns raised with me by older 
people who contacted my casework team, 
as well as those shared via engagement with 
other key stakeholders, such as Chairs of 
older people’s groups, so that action could be 
taken to resolve them. 

For example, a key issue I highlighted was 
the significant uncertainty amongst older 
people about what the vaccination process 
would involve. This included queries about 
who would contact them with details of their 
appointment, how they would be contacted, 
and when, broadly speaking, they could expect 
to be contacted. 

Following this, the Welsh Government and 
Public Health Wales distributed a letter to 
every household in Wales, which provided 
information about the vaccination process, 
reflecting the queries above. Alongside 
this, the Welsh Government also published 
its Vaccination Strategy, which set out key 
milestones for delivering the Covid-19 vaccine 
to priority groups. 

Similarly, following concerns I raised about 
potential scams relating to the Covid vaccine, 
crucial information about how to recognise 
scams and the things to look out for was 
disseminated by public bodies and other 
organisations throughout Wales. In addition, 
the Minister for Health and Social Services 
shared this information while delivering the 
daily Welsh Government Briefing. 

The pandemic has had a significant impact 
on health and care services in Wales and 
issues relating to these kinds of services 
have been a key feature across the breadth 
of my work, as highlighted throughout this 
report. 

Alongside this, there has also been a 
significant amount of discussion and 
debate about how the pandemic may 
change the way that these services are 
delivered in the future, and what that might 
mean for older people. 

Health and care services play a crucial role 
in supporting older people’s independence 
and well-being, and will be particularly 
important in supporting reablement and 
rehabilitation as we recover from the 
pandemic. I therefore took action across 
a number of key areas – guided by the 
experiences shared by older people at 
engagement sessions and those shared 
with my casework team – to ensure that 
older people will not be excluded from 
these services as we move forward, and 
that planning and decision-making in the 
short and longer-term reflects their needs.

Vaccination Roll-out
From the planning stages of the vaccination 
roll-out, I engaged frequently with the Welsh 
Government, and met with Public Health 
Wales to ensure that action would be taken to 
tackle potential issues and barriers that could 
prevent older people from getting vaccinated. 

This included meetings with the Deputy 
Minister for Health and Social Services, and 
the Chair of the Vaccines Programme Board, 
together with participation in the Vaccines 
Programme Board (subsequently renamed 

Ensuring older people can access 
health and care services

needed, which will support me to influence 
the plans and decisions of the Welsh 
Government and other key public bodies in 
Wales, particularly as planning is undertaken 
in preparation for Winter 2021. 

Transport to Health 
Services
Before the Covid-19 pandemic, I undertook 
research into transport to health services in 
response to concerns frequently raised by 
older people about the barriers to accessing 
health services they often faced due to issues 
relating to transport, and the potential impact 
of these on their health and well-being. 

My findings were based on evidence captured 
via a questionnaire distributed to older people 
throughout Wales (which received over 600 
responses) and a series of focus group 
sessions. Further evidence and examples 
of good practice were also provided through 
engagement with stakeholders, including 
Wales Ambulance Service NHS Trust (WAST), 
the Community Transport Association and the 
Royal Voluntary Service (RVS). 

I found that older people often faced significant 
barriers and difficulties when travelling to 
health services, often as a result of the limited 
transport options available to them, and issues 
relating to quality, accessibility and reliability. 
Whilst some good practice was identified, it 
was clear that a range of action was needed 
to improve the experiences of older people 
when they travel by public transport to health 
services, particularly for those who do not 
have access to a car. 

As it was not possible for me to publish my 
findings and recommendations in March 2020 
as planned due to the pandemic, I worked 
with a number of key stakeholders to ensure 
that change could be implemented, both 
immediately and in the longer-term.  

I also continued to closely monitor the roll-out 
of the vaccine, reviewing all of the available 
data on a daily basis, and raised concerns on 
several occasions when targets were missed. 
During the early stages of the vaccination 
programme, I had particular concerns about 
the speed of the roll-out to older people living 
in care homes, as indicated by the published 
data and sought assurances that issues 
would be quickly resolved. As a result, the 
Welsh Government undertook a data review, 
and, having identified that the data was not 
accurate, took action to remedy this.  

The speed and efficiency of the roll-out 
subsequently increased significantly, 
something that I strongly welcomed.

Winter Stories
With the prospect of a difficult winter ahead 
of older people in 2020, and the potential for 
ongoing difficulties during 2021, I launched 
a new project to ensure that older people’s 
voices and experiences were captured and 
could be used to influence change and 
improvements, working with a researcher from 
Swansea University’s Centre for Ageing and 
Dementia Research (CADR). 

The researcher engaged with a total of 23 
older people from across Wales, who regularly 
shared their experiences about their lives 
during the winter, including any plans and 
action they put in place to help them get 
through the winter months, the things that 
made a positive difference and any issues that 
were making life more difficult. 

The information captured through the Winter 
Stories project provided me with ‘real time’ 
updates throughout the Winter about the kinds 
of difficulties and challenges potentially being 
faced by older people, helping me to identify 
issues and support my calls for action. 

Furthermore, the project has provided 
evidence that highlights barriers that need 
to be tackled and where improvements are 
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I engaged with the 
Welsh Government 

officials responsible 
for developing the 

proposed Wales 
Transport Strategy – 

Llwybr Newydd – to 
share key findings and 

set out the changes 
the strategy would 

need to deliver. 

I engaged with the Welsh Government officials 
responsible for developing the proposed 
Wales Transport Strategy – Llwybr Newydd – 
to share key findings and set out the changes 
the strategy would need to deliver. This 
included ensuring more effective and joined-up 
planning, including improved engagement and 
consultation with older transport users; more 
accessible and flexible transport options; and 
improved information about transport options, 
including better signposting to alternative 
services. 

I welcomed the draft Strategy when it was 
published for consultation, as the action 
proposed would ensure progress in these key 
areas. 

My findings also highlighted the difficulties 
older people often faced when using non-
emergency patient transport services, such 
as services running late, which often caused 
concern and anxiety; the amount of time 
required to travel to an appointment, with 
some journeys taking all day despite an 
appointment being very short; and difficulties 
relating to a carer or escort travelling with 
someone who may need support. 

I therefore also engaged with the Wales 
Ambulance Services NHS Trust (WAST) 
to ensure that these concerns could be 
addressed as part of their modernisation 
agenda, welcoming the fact that they would 
be reviewing call handling procedures, 
issues relating to lengthy transit times and 
the situation around escorts being allowed to 
travel with a vulnerable patient.

With a significant amount of discussion 
and debate underway about the ways that 
health transport services may change as 
we move forward, I will continue to engage 
with transport providers and public bodies to 
ensure the kinds of issues I identified through 
my research are understood and inform plans 
when changes are being considered. 

This work has included: 

•  Publishing joint statements on key 
issues, such as where to get help during 
lockdown, the role everyone can play 
in protecting older people from abuse, 
Covid scams and staying safe online. 

• Sharing key information and intelligence 
between members, which can be further 
disseminated down to community level. 

• Developing extensive social media 
resources highlighting key information 
and messages. 

• Publishing a Covid-19 Information Pack 
(see below).

• Developing an information leaflet aimed 
at older people (see below).

The group was able to reach thousands 
of contacts in communities throughout 
Wales through the extensive networks of its 
members, ensuring they had (and were able to 
share even more widely) the latest information, 
guidance and resources about keeping older 
people safe, as well as information about the 
help and support available throughout Wales. 

To guide and support the work of the Action 
Group, and to ensure a strategic approach 
to tackling issues that arose due to the 
pandemic, as well as long-standing issues 
relating to safeguarding and protection, I 
also established a Steering Group, which 
comprises some members from the Action 
Group, together with older people and abuse 
survivors. 

In August 2020, the Steering Group published 
a strategy document, setting out key priorities 
and action that would be taken forward by 
the Action Group. Focused around two key 

Stopping the abuse of older people 
remained a key priority for me throughout 
the pandemic, particularly as there were 
significant concerns about the greater 
risk to older people of abuse or neglect, 
or of being targeted by criminals, due to 
lockdown. 

I led a range of work with key public 
bodies and stakeholders throughout 
Wales to ensure that older people who 
are experiencing, or at risk of, abuse, can 
get the support they need. This has led to 
significant progress in a number of areas, 
including a commitment from the Welsh 
Government to deliver a new National 
Plan to tackle abuse, as well as significant 
opportunities to build on new partnerships 
and initiatives to drive further change for 
older people. 

Establishing the Stopping 
Abuse Action Group
Due to concerns highlighted in the introduction 
above about the risks to older people 
experiencing or at risk of abuse due to the 
pandemic, I established the Stopping Abuse 
Action Group, bringing together over 30 key 
organisations. 

The group have been working together to 
provide crucial information to older people, 
and their family and friends, about how to 
recognise abuse or crimes, the ways people 
can keep themselves and their loved ones 
safe and protected, and where they can go 
for help and support. In addition, the group 
has been raising awareness of the role that 
the wider public can play in protecting older 
people, and encouraging them to report any 
concerns about an older person’s safety or 
well-being. 

Supporting older people 
experiencing or at risk of abuse
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The pack included information about 
how to spot whether someone could be 
experiencing or at risk of abuse, as well as 
information about how older people could 
protect themselves from crime and scams, 
together with contact details for local authority 
safeguarding teams to raise any concerns, and 
details of other organisations that can provide 
help and support, which included my office. 

To provide further information to older people 
who may be experiencing or at risk of abuse 
and support them to get the help they may 
need, I also produced an information leaflet, 
which provides details about where people can 
go for help and support, the signs of abuse 
they should be looking out for, and what to do 
if they are concerned about someone else. 

Providing feedback on the leaflet, older people 
and stakeholders welcomed the clear and 
accessible language, as well as the case 
studies based on older people’s experiences 
of living with abuse. 

To date, over 10,000 copies of the leaflet have 
been distributed throughout Wales, via the 
police, care homes, third sector organisations, 
NHS settings and pharmacies. 

Accommodation and 
support for older people 
experiencing abuse: 
Making the case for 
change
A key issue raised through the work of 
the Action Group was the availability of 
appropriate accommodation and support 
for older people needing to leave abusive 
relationships. Many older people who had 
shared their experiences with me and Action 
Group members had found it difficult to access 
services that fully met their needs. 

strands – improving services and support, and 
raising public awareness of abuse and crimes 
against older people – the strategy included 
the following: 

•  Mapping the services and support 
available for older people who are 
experiencing or at risk of abuse, 
identifying gaps and good practice to 
drive change (see below)

•  Ensuring that data and evidence 
on abuse includes older people by 
removing the upper age limit of 74 on 
England and Wales crime data (see 
below)

•  Enabling and empowering older 
people to feel confident to share their 
experiences of abuse and encouraging 
others to speak out. 

•  Developing information and resources 
for older people, including those with 
protected characteristics and those who 
are digitally excluded. 

I have delivered a range of action against 
these priorities, as set out below, and I am 
working with the Action and Steering Groups 
to determine further priorities and action for 
2021-22. 

I will also be contributing to the development of 
the Welsh Government’s National Plan relating 
to abuse, and working with them to ensure that 
action set out in the plan will tackle the issues 
and concerns I have raised.

Covid-19 Information Pack 
and Information leaflet for 
older people
I published an information pack, with support 
from the Action Group, to provide older people 
with crucial information about the help and 
support available during lockdown. 

•  Developing more specialist services 
for older people and ensuring that 
appropriate services are being 
commissioned

• Improving access to justice, including 
improving access to legal aid and 
support

I am working with members of the Action 
group to ensure that progress is made against 
the areas above, with a particular focus 
on ensuring that the Welsh Government 
and its groups and networks – such as 
the Independent Safeguarding Board and 
Regional Safeguarding Boards – takes the 
action required to ensure that older people 
who need to leave abusive relationships can 
get the help and support they need. This will 
include working with the Welsh Government 
and other key stakeholders to ensure that 
the issues highlighted above are reflected in 
the new Violence Against Women, Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence strategy currently 
under development. 

Mapping Abuse Support 
Services for Older People
Due to concerns about potential gaps in 
support for older people experiencing or at 
risk of abuse, I undertook a research project 
to identify and map the kinds of services 
available throughout Wales. This would allow 
me to examine where additional resources 
might be needed to ensure that older people 
can get the help they need, when and where 
they need it, and would provide a robust 
evidence base to support my calls for change. 

Crucial evidence was captured through 
meetings with older survivors of abuse, which 
meant the research team could hear directly 
about their lived experiences of accessing 
support, and about any issues and challenges 
they faced. 

To look at this issue in more detail and identify 
the changes and improvements needed, I held 
a roundtable event attended by members of 
the action group and other key stakeholders, 
including the Deputy Minister for Health and 
Social Services and the Domestic Abuse 
Commissioner for England and Wales, Nicole 
Jacobs. 

During the event, delegates heard directly 
from a domestic abuse survivor, who 
described the significant difficulties and 
barriers she had faced which had meant it was 
almost impossible for her to leave her abusive 
husband.

The event also provided an opportunity to 
examine the findings of a survey of Directors 
of Social Services in Wales, undertaken on 
my behalf, which showed that there appeared 
to be a particular shortage of accommodation 
for older people living with disabilities and/
or mobility issues, and that there can be 
difficulties when trying to help people move 
from emergency provision into alternative 
accommodation. 

Delegates used this evidence to identify 
several areas where action was needed, both 
immediately and in the longer term:

•  Improving awareness of the abuse of 
older people and its impact

•  Improving the data available to ensure 
that older people’s experiences are 
not rendered invisible to policy- and 
decision-makers 

•  Improving housing and support options, 
including the provision of accessible 
accommodation with support for those 
who need it

•  Improving access to existing services, 
including a review of the current policy 
of charging abuse victims for refuge 
accommodation
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access information about the kinds of support 
offered by different services, and easily find 
contact details so they can seek help if they 
need it. The directory also provides information 
about all-Wales services and the support they 
can offer. 

The directory will also be used by 
professionals to provide information about 
available services to the older people they 
work with, and signpost them to support if they 
need it.

Removal of upper-age 
limit of crime survey data
I have consistently called for the upper age 
limit of 74 for data collection relating to crimes 
against older people to be scrapped, and 
continued working to ensure that the available 
data presents a true picture of older people’s 
experiences, which is crucial to ensure that 
resources and support can be targeted more 
effectively. 

Having identified opportunities to deliver 
change via the UK Domestic Abuse Bill, I 
provided a detailed briefing to Westminster 
politicians, following a request for information 
from a Member of the House of Lords who 
was aware of the impact my work was making 
in Wales. This led to my work and role being 
highlighted several times during a House 
of Lords debate to shape and influence the 
content of the Bill. 

Alongside this, I worked with Age UK, issuing 
a joint-statement to coincide with the launch 
their ‘No Age Limit’ report that set out why it 
was crucial that older people’s experiences are 
not rendered invisible to policy- and decision-
makers due to a lack of meaningful data. 

I also wrote to the UK’s National Statistician 
at the Office of National Statistics, calling for 
action to remove the age limit and improve the 
data available. 

In addition, evidence was also gathered 
through engaging with stakeholders working 
across the public and third sectors, and 
through reviewing data published by the Welsh 
Government and local authorities.

The research provided a detailed picture of the 
help and support available throughout Wales, 
and highlighted several issues:

•  Although support is available in most 
areas, this is often generic and not 
equipped to meet the needs of older 
people. 

•  The language and imagery used to raise 
awareness about abuse and promote 
support services often do not reflect 
older people’s experiences, which may 
act as a barrier to them accessing help 
and support. 

•  In some cases, the abuse of an older 
person is not recognised, which means 
opportunities to provide help and 
support are potentially being missed. 

I will work with key stakeholders at an 
upcoming online conference to identify the 
most effective ways to deliver the action 
required, as well as opportunities for new 
partnerships and joint-working, to offer 
practical solutions to the issues identified 
through my research that can be taken 
forward by the new Welsh Government, 
local authorities and other public bodies and 
services. 

Support Services 
Directory
I used the findings of my mapping research 
to develop a directory of support services to 
provide crucial information to older people 
about where they could go if they needed help 
and support. 

Older people can use the directory to search 
for the services available in their local area, 

Following the announcement in January 2021 
that the upper age limit would be removed, 
which I strongly welcomed, I met with the 
National Statistician to examine the plans 
in place to take this forward. He confirmed 
that work to improve the data was beginning 
immediately, with the first ‘all-ages’ data 
available from 2023. 

I will work with key stakeholders to 
identify the most effective ways to 

deliver the action required, as well as 
opportunities for new partnerships and 

joint-working, to offer practical solutions 
to the issues identified through my 

research that can be taken forward by 
the Welsh Government, local authorities 

and other public bodies and services. 
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The report was based on evidence captured 
through extensive engagement with older 
people, who shared their experiences with 
me throughout the pandemic, as well as 
information, evidence and data gathered 
through ongoing engagement with public 
bodies and organisations working with and for 
older people. 

In the report, I set out a range of practical 
action needed across a number of key areas 
– including social care, health, the economy 
and our communities – to tackle the issues 
created by the pandemic, as well as the wider 
structural issues that affect older people that 
have been exacerbated by Covid-19. This 
action included: 

•  Repealing sections of the Coronavirus 
Act that risk limiting older people’s rights 
to care and support. 

•  Establishing a rehabilitation programme 
for older people who have been affected 
physically and/or mentally by Covid-19.

•  Establishing a dedicated programme to 
support older workers to remain in work 
or retrain if they are facing redundancy.

•  Investing in a targeted campaign and 
assistance to increase the take-up of 
Pension Credit.

•  Providing older people with tailored 
support to get them online, including 
providing user-friendly devices with 
access to the internet.

I shared the evidence captured by my report 
with the Welsh Government and other key 
public bodies to ensure that older people’s 
voices and experiences would shape plans 
and decision-making. My findings were 

The difficulties and challenges caused by 
the pandemic have highlighted that a great 
deal of action is needed to ensure that, 
as we look to the future, older people can 
play a part in Wales’ recovery, contribute to 
our economy, and access the services and 
support they may need. 

Given the particular ways that the 
pandemic has affected older people and 
the community resources and services 
that are often a lifeline to them, there will 
need to be a significant focus on enabling 
people to age well and on making our 
communities more age-friendly, which will 
be crucial to build confidence amongst 
older people to re-engage with society, and 
to support reablement and rehabilitation. 

The response to the pandemic in Wales, 
particularly at a local level, has shown that 
there are strong foundations to build upon, 
and throughout 2020-21 the Commissioner 
I have been working to ensure that the 
action and policies we see as we move 
towards our recovery will improve practice 
and services, and deliver the change older 
people want and need to see.

Leave no-one behind: 
Action for an age-friendly 
recovery
With growing discussion and debate about 
what our recovery from coronavirus could look 
like, I published my ‘Leave no-one behind’ 
report in August 2020, calling for immediate 
and long-term action from the Welsh 
Government and other public bodies to ensure 
that older people are not ‘left behind’ as Wales 
moves forward. 

Learning the lessons and looking to 
the future

•  Swansea Council – planning to embed 
the report and associated actions within 
their areas of work and partnership 
plans going forward

•  Bangor University – report included on 
reading list for post-graduate students

•  Living Streets Cymru – report 
highlighted in press release about 
Walking Friends Wales project

Manifesto for the 2021 
Senedd Election
In November, I published my Manifesto for 
the 2021 Senedd Election, which set out the 
action I want the next Welsh Government to 
take to ensure older people can live healthy 
and fulfilling lives in a society that is inclusive, 
recognises and values their significant 
contribution, and upholds their rights. 

The Manifesto called for immediate action 
to enable older people to recover from the 
pandemic, as well as the new legislation, 
policy and resource commitments needed to 
drive longer-term change to improve the lives 
of older people throughout Wales during the 
next Senedd term and beyond. 

My priorities for the next Welsh Government 
include ensuring older people can access 
the rehabilitation and support they may need 
following the pandemic, as well as action to 
make communities more age friendly and 
support for older people to remain in or return 
to work.

I also called for wider action to support healthy 
ageing, tackle the abuse of older people, 
eliminate age discrimination in the workplace, 
reduce levels of poverty and fuel poverty, and 
provide greater support for unpaid carers.

Alongside this, I set out the legislation needed 
to drive meaningful change for older people, 
which includes:

also shared at a large-scale webinar event 
attended by over 350 delegates working 
across the public and third sectors, to consider 
how my calls should be taken forward. 

Following the publication of the report, I 
welcomed progress against many of my calls 
for action, including: 

•  Publication of an action plan for care 
homes in Wales

•  Suspension of measures in the 
coronavirus act that put older people’s 
rights to social care at risk

•  Launch of the ‘Claim What’s Yours’ 
campaign by the Welsh Government 
to encourage the take-up of Pension 
Credit and other financial entitlements

•  Removal of upper age-limit of 74 for 
collecting data for the England and 
Wales Crime Survey 

•  Publication of the Digital Inclusion 
Alliance’s Agenda for Digital Inclusion, 
which highlighted my calls for action 
within the ‘landmark’ Leave No-one 
behind report

I have also continued to work with the Welsh 
Government and public bodies throughout 
Wales to ensure there will be further progress 
in delivering the action I called for.

In addition, as well as being widely welcomed 
and shared by older people and stakeholders, 
the report has been used in a number of ways 
by a range of organisations to support their 
work and guide their forward plans:

•  Welsh Government – referenced 
the report’s call for digital access to 
be considered a right in a Policy and 
Strategy statement

•  Aneurin Bevan University Health 
Board – report shared with executive 
team and key personnel, including 
Director of Nursing
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communities throughout Wales, I have 
established the Age Friendly Wales Steering 
Group. This has created a strategic 
partnership between public and third sector 
organisations, community groups and other 
key stakeholders to provide expertise and 
support to promote, champion and influence 
age-friendly policy and practice. 

To provide greater support for local 
practitioners, I have also established a Wales-
wide Age-friendly Community of Practice, 
which aims to help members form supportive 
relationships, share learning and experiences, 
and overcome shared challenges. 

Influencing the Welsh 
Government’s Strategy for 
an Ageing Society
I engaged with the Welsh Government 
throughout the development of their Strategy 
for an Ageing Society, in order to shape its 
content and ensure it will enable policy and 
practice that will support older people to age 
well and continue to engage with, participate in 
and contribute to our communities. 

I called for the Strategy to have a strong focus 
on protecting and promoting older people’s 
rights, and to support action to protect older 
people from abuse, tackle ageism and age 
discrimination, promote solidarity between 
generations and make our communities more 
age-friendly. 

I welcomed the draft strategy when it was 
published for consultation in December 2020, 
as it would provide an important step towards 
planning and delivering change and making 
progress in key areas where I had raised 
concerns with the Welsh Government. I also 
urged older people – experts by experience – 
to share their views and ideas with the Welsh 
Government and make their voices heard 
about the improvements they want to see. 

•  Legislation to protect and promote older 
people’s rights.

•  A new social care act to increase 
investment in our social care system, 
including growing the social care 
workforce and improving terms and 
conditions for current and future staff.

•  Legislation to establish a right to digital 
connectivity for all. 

The manifesto also included a set of core 
principles to underpin and guide the next 
Welsh Government’s approach to governing 
to ensure that the voices and experiences of 
older people in all of their diversity are used to 
shape policy and practice and are an essential 
part of the decision making process. 

Ageing Well in Wales: 
Making communities in 
Wales more Age-Friendly
From the autumn onwards, I continued to 
work with local authorities throughout Wales 
to encourage and support them to join the 
World Health Organisation’s Global Network of 
Age Friendly Cities and Communities, which 
provides recognition and support for age-
friendly initiatives, as well as opportunities 
for mutual learning between cities and 
communities worldwide. 

This has meant that Swansea has now 
announced its intention to begin the WHO 
application process for recognition as an age-
friendly community, with Anglesey, Blaenau 
Gwent, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan also 
working towards beginning the application 
process. I will also continue to work with and 
support remaining local authorities and Public 
Services Boards so they can deliver projects 
and initiatives that will move them closer to 
WHO recognition. 

To further support the development 
and delivery of age-friendly initiatives in 

•  Outreach work by health boards and 
local authorities to support older people 
to access digital services. 

I am working with fellow members of the 
Welsh Government’s Digital Inclusion 
Programme Board and the Digital Inclusion 
Alliance Wales, to examine how this action can 
be taken forward to ensure that older people 
get the support they need to get them online. 

Alongside this, I am also examining the action 
that may be needed to ensure that older 
people who are unable or unwilling to get 
online are still able to access the information, 
services and support they have a right to. 

I called for a range 
of immediate and 

longer-term action 
to reduce digital 

exclusion amongst 
older people within 

my Leave No-one 
Behind report

I will continue to closely monitor and scrutinise 
the development of the strategy and will work 
constructively with the Welsh Government to 
influence policy and practice to maximise the 
opportunities presented by an ageing society 
and ensure that action is taken to make the 
ambition and commitments within the strategy 
a reality for older people throughout Wales. 

Reducing digital exclusion 
amongst older people
Throughout the pandemic, many older people 
struggled to access the information, services 
and support they needed, particularly those 
who are digitally excluded. 

The pandemic highlighted a stark digital 
divide in Wales and the significant impact that 
digital exclusion can have on people’s lives, 
something that is particularly concerning given 
that the many public bodies accelerated the 
introduction and use of digital services due to 
Covid-19. 

I therefore called for a range of immediate and 
longer-term action to reduce digital exclusion 
amongst older people within my Leave No-one 
Behind report: 

•  Community level audits to identify 
vulnerable older people who were 
digitally excluded during the pandemic

•  Providing tailored support to help older 
people identified to get online, including 
providing internet access and/or user-
friendly devices where required. 

•  Establishing a right to digital connectivity 
– viewing digital infrastructure as 
an essential service that the whole 
population needs affordable access to.

•  Introducing a social tariff for internet 
access and work towards the provision 
of free universal access to the internet 



34       Older People’s Commissioner for Wales Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020-21       35 

..................................................................................................................................... .....................................................................................................................................

people, with the majority (57%) related to 
health and social care issues. A summary of 
the key issues I was contacted about are set 
out below: 

Health

•  Information about, and access to 
coronavirus vaccine

•  Visits to hospitals

•  Use of Do Not Attempt CPR notices

•  Information about self-isolation / 
shielding 

•  Access to services (e.g. obtaining 
prescriptions)

“Many thanks for your 
correspondence which outlined 
various contacts and organisations 
for additional support, very 
much appreciated in the current 
circumstances.”  – Anonymous

Care

•  Visiting loved one in care homes

•  Concerns about availability of PPE in 
care homes 

•  Access to domiciliary care 

•  Information on Covid restrictions and 
travelling to provide care

•  Care home fees – top up fees generally 
and fees for increased Covid costs 

•  Help with accessing social care, 
including preferred choice of care home

Providing support to older 
people through casework

“Remarkable how one phone call 
from you sorted things, which 
had dragged on for 8 weeks 
since lockdown started. Much 
appreciated.” – Older person

During 2020-21, my casework team provided 
help and support to 576 older people 
throughout Wales, either directly or through 
family members and others who contacted the 
team on an older person’s behalf. 67 cases 
were also opened to deal with inquiries from 
the wider public or to investigate issues and 
concerns they raised. 

Case numbers, with comparisons for previous 
years, are set out below and highlight a further 
increase in the number of people seeking help, 
support or information from me during 2020-
21:

2020-21 643
2019-20 563
2018-19 418

“Thank you so much, I really 
appreciate your time, and since 
I have contacted your office, I 
genuinely feel more positive just 
to know that your commissioner is 
doing all she can to help our loved 
ones.” – Care home visitor (family 
member)

As expected, a significant number of the 
enquiries received by the casework team 
related to Covid-19 and its impact upon older 

Reaching out to and engaging with 
older people

Providing information to 
older people
Ensuring that older people could access 
crucial information about how to keep 
themselves safe during the pandemic, as well 
as details of regulations and guidance which 
have been regularly changed and updated, 
was a key priority for me during 2020-21. 

In addition to distributing key information 
for older people via my network and 
contacts, including Chairs of older people’s 
organisations and ageing well partners, I 
developed, and have continued to update, a 
coronavirus information hub and Q&A section 
on my website to provide older people and 
their families with up-to-date information and 
guidance, as well as details about services 
and support available in communities 
throughout Wales. 

I also worked in partnership with Age Cymru 
to develop a specific Q&A relating to the 
coronavirus vaccine, providing a range of 
information about its safety and efficacy, as 
well as details about the roll-out itself. 

These pages were visited over 12,500 times 
by over 4,600 individuals during 2020-21.

Alongside this, I used my social media 
channels to provide key information and 
practical advice to older people, which has 
been widely shared and re-posted. This 
included: 

•  Tips to support older people to get 
online and use apps to stay in touch 
with family and friends

•  Information about help and support 
available for older people experiencing 
or at risk of abuse

•  Raising awareness of the ‘Ask for Ani’ 
initiative

“Thank you very much for your 
assistance in resolving this 
matter. Without your help I would 
have been lost in the system.” – 
Anonymous

Alongside this, the team also provided support 
on a range of other issues relating to housing, 
communities, finances and abuse. 

The experiences and information shared by 
older people and their families has provided 
me with a great deal of invaluable evidence 
about people’s experiences of the pandemic 
and the ways that policy and guidance is being 
translated into practice ‘on the ground’. 

This has helped me to identify issues and 
examples where older people’s rights have 
potentially not been upheld, which meant I 
could raise concerns with, and call for action 
from, the Welsh Government and other public 
bodies. 

The evidence captured through my casework 
team has also helped to guide and shape my 
ongoing work, priorities and planning, and 
has allowed me to identify opportunities to 
distribute information and resources on key 
issues to empower and support older people.

“This is absolutely fabulous, I 
cannot thank you enough.  I will 
share this information with my 
mother immediately.  Thank you 
very much once again.” – Family 
member

“Thank you so much for your reply. 
....  so really nice to find someone 
who listens” – Care home visitor 
(family member)
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number of older people and their families also 
told my casework team that they had got in 
touch as a result of seeing an interview with 
me. 

My work with the media included interviews 
with news programmes across radio 
and television, as well as coverage in 
local and national newspapers, including 
UK publications such as The Guardian, 
Independent and Daily Mail. 

Alongside this, I also wrote articles and blogs 
for stakeholder publications and websites to 
shape discussion and debate relating to older 
people’s rights, protecting older people at risk 
of abuse, tackling poverty, digital inclusion and 
ageing well. 

During 2020-21, my work was covered in 188 
news items across print media, radio and 
TV. This coverage resulted in 2,555,101,364 
‘opportunities to see’, and an advertising value 
equivalent of £19,241,199. 

Engagement with Older 
People
Throughout the pandemic, I held online 
engagement sessions with older people 
throughout Wales, to ensure I could hear 
directly from older people about their 
experiences, and the issues and challenges 
they were facing due to the pandemic, and that 
their voices were heard, captured and could 
be acted upon. This included specific sessions 
looking at Wales’ recovery, which helped to 
inform my Leave No-one Behind report, as 
well as sessions focused on the impact of the 
pandemic on older people’s mental health. 

In addition, I met regularly with the Chairs of 
older people’s groups – Active Wales, Cymru 
Older People’s Alliance, National Pensioners 
Convention and the Welsh Senate of Older 
People – throughout the pandemic to hear 
from them about the experiences of their 

•  Highlighting potential scams relating to 
the pandemic and vaccine roll-out

•  Information about claiming Pension 
Credit

•  Information about the support available 
to complete the Census

I reached over 255,886 individuals via 
Facebook during 2020-21, while my Twitter 
posts earned 1,171,300 ‘impressions’ (the 
number of times a Tweet is seen). 

I also used these channels to share key 
information from other public bodies and 
organisations to ensure they reached as many 
people as possible. 

In addition, I established a new Facebook 
group – Together We Are Stronger – which 
provides a space for older people, their 
families and professionals to connect and 
chat, ask questions and find out about the help 
and support available to them. Membership of 
the group has continued to grow throughout 
the pandemic, and now stands at over 300 
members. 

I have also continued to distribute paper 
copies of my newsletter to older people and 
stakeholders throughout Wales, to provide 
them with key information and updates about 
my work. 

Working with the media
I have maintained a strong media presence 
throughout the pandemic, working with the 
media across Wales and the UK to raise 
concerns, offer insight and comment, and set 
out the action needed to tackle the issues and 
challenges being faced by older people, and 
ensure they could access the services and 
support they may need.

Feedback from older people highlighted that 
they greatly valued seeing me being a vocal 
champion for their rights and publicly raising 
concerns about the issues affecting them. A 

•  The future of care in Wales webinar, 
Wales Governance Centre

•  Taking action on domestic abuse 
amongst older people, Chartered 
Institute of Housing

•  Human Rights of Older Persons and the 
Open-Ended Working Group roundtable 
event, Foreign, Commonwealth and 
Development Office

•  Race Equality Action Plan BAME Event, 
Welsh Government 

•  Covid-19 Roundtable Event, 
International Public Policy Observatory 
(IPPO)

•  British Geriatrics Society 5 nations 
conference on care homes

•  ADSS Cymru National Social Care 
Conference

These events provided opportunities for 
me to shape discussion and debate, and 
influence thinking and decision-making, on 
key issues relating to the pandemic and my 
wider priorities – ending ageism and age 
discrimination, stopping the abuse of older 
people and enabling everyone to age well – 
at a Wales, UK and international level. As a 
result, there has been a great deal of interest 
in my role and the positive impact my scrutiny 
and challenge has on the lives of older 
people, as well as calls for similar roles to be 
established in England and Scotland.   

I have also established new partnerships to 
ensure a more joined-up, strategic approach 
to taking forward action on key issues relating 
to the pandemic, and to provide opportunities 
to raise concerns with a powerful, collective 
voice. In addition to establishing the Stopping 
Abuse Action Group (as highlighted above), 
I also brought together key organisations 
working across the UK – including Age UK, 
Care Scotland and the Commissioner for Older 
People in Northern Ireland – to examine key 
issues affecting older people and their rights. 

members, provide answers to questions and 
disseminate key information.

A particular focus for me continued to be 
engaging with BAME communities. This 
included holding engagement sessions 
specifically for BAME older people, and 
working with the Ethnic Minorities and Youth 
Support Team Wales (EYST Wales) to meet 
with forum members so I could hear directly 
from older people from BAME communities 
about their experiences during the pandemic, 
and the particular barriers and difficulties they 
faced.

I have used the wide range of information 
and experiences captured through this 
engagement to influence the policies 
and decisions being made by the Welsh 
Government and other public bodies, and to 
guide my work, plans and priorities.

Engaging with 
Stakeholder Organisations

• Throughout the pandemic, my team 
and I engaged with stakeholder 
organisations throughout Wales, to 
share information and intelligence, 
disseminate key messages, and 
capture evidence about older people’s 
experiences. This included taking part 
in meetings and round-table sessions, 
as well as delivering keynote speeches 
on key topics – such as older people’s 
rights and our recovery from the 
pandemic – at online conference events 
and seminars. Examples included:

•  Covid-19 Special Symposium, British 
Society of Gerontology

•  Ageism and Ableism webinar, 
International Longevity Centre

•  Care Home Rights roundtable event, 
Equality and Human Rights Commission

•  Homecare Festival, Scottish Care
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I will build on these 
partnerships during 

2021-22 to monitor 
and scrutinise 

government action 
and decisions as 

we move towards 
recovery, and to 
drive change for 

older people, both in 
Wales and throughout 

the UK. 

effectively. Alongside this, I also met with the 
Minister for Health and Social Services, as well 
as key Welsh Government officials, to ensure 
that action was taken to protect and support 
older people across a number of key areas. 

I have met regularly with other key 
organisations such as Public Health Wales, 
Care Inspectorate Wales and the Welsh Local 
Government Association to ensure that the 
action they are taking does not exclude older 
people and reflects their needs.

In addition, members of my team have 
participated in a wide range of advisory boards 
and networks focused on Wales’ response 
to the pandemic and wider issues to ensure 
older people’s experiences are heard and 
understood, and are used to shape policy and 
practice. These include: 

•  Welsh Government Covid-19 Social 
Care Planning and Response Sub-
Group

•  Welsh Government Shadow Social 
Partnership Council

•  Welsh Government Social Care 
Stabilisation and Reconstruction Board

•  Welsh Government Covid-19 Vaccines 
Programme Stakeholder Forum

•  Welsh Government Ministerial Advisory 
Forum on Ageing

•  Welsh Government Digital Inclusion 
Programme Board

•  Welsh Government Financial Inclusion 
Steering Group

•  Welsh Government Pension 
Credit Take-up Group and Income 
Maximisation take-up group

•  Welsh Government Loneliness and 
Isolation Advisory Group

•  Care Inspectorate Wales National 
Advisory Board

•  Care Inspectorate Wales Care Home 
Visiting Stakeholder Group

This group has been working together to 
scrutinise the action being taken in response 
by governments and public bodies across 
the UK, with a particular focus on protecting 
older people’s rights. Working in partnership, 
the group issued several media statements 
relating to older people’s rights, access to 
treatment and blanket decisions relating to Do 
Not Attempt CPR notices. These statements 
received extensive media coverage across 
Welsh and UK media outlets and have led 
to policy changes in Wales and the other 
UK nations, such as the establishment of 
the Welsh Government’s Moral and Ethical 
Advisory Group. 

As highlighted above, I have also been 
working with EHRC Wales to review Welsh 
Government decision-making and the impact 
this may have had on older people’s rights 
during the pandemic. 

I will build on these partnerships during 2021-
22 to monitor and scrutinise government action 
and decisions as we move towards recovery, 
and to drive change for older people, both in 
Wales and throughout the UK. 

Engaging with the Welsh 
Government and Public 
Bodies
I have engaged and worked constructively 
with the Welsh Government and other public 
bodies throughout the pandemic, but I have 
not hesitated to hold them to account where 
I have felt that action had been insufficient to 
protect older people, raising concerns publicly 
when necessary to drive change and ensure 
improvements are delivered. 

I met weekly with the Deputy Minister for 
Health and Social Services to raise issues of 
concern to older people, highlight where older 
people’s rights might be at risk, to propose and 
follow-up on areas where action is required, 
and to ensure that the latest information and 
guidance for older people is communicated 

•  Carers’ Ministerial Advisory Group

•  Digital Communities Alliance Wales

In November 2020, I worked with Members 
of the Senedd to establish the Cross-Party 
Group on Intergenerational Solidarity, which 
brings together politicians, key academic 
researchers, practitioners with experience 
of running intergenerational projects, and 
representatives of older and younger 
people, to support action to strengthen the 
bonds between generations and promote 
opportunities for intergenerational activities. 
The group will work to ensure action is taken 
forward by the next Welsh Government across 
four priority areas: tackling loneliness and 
isolation; opportunities for lifelong learning; 
tackling ageism; and skills and the economy. 

I will continue to work with key stakeholders, 
as well as monitoring, scrutinising and 
influencing the action and decisions they 
take, to ensure that older people can access 
the services and support they may need, and 
that they are not left behind as Wales moves 
towards its recovery. 
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Playing my part to 
drive and deliver 
change for older 

people, I will be 
taking forward an 

extensive programme 
of work during 2021-

22, focused on my 
three key priorities, 

as well as protecting 
and promoting older 

people’s rights.

healthcare needs, and have their wishes 
recognised and respected 

•  Continuing work with the UK network of 
key partner organisations I established 
in 2020 to ensure that older people’s 
rights are protected and promoted, and 
collectively drive change. 

Alongside this, I will also continue to provide 
information, advice and assistance directly 
to older people through my casework team, 
monitor and scrutinise the action and decisions 
being taken by the Welsh Government and 
other public bodies, and influence policy and 
practice at a national and local level. 

Engagement with older people will also remain 
a key focus for me and my team during 2021-
22, to ensure that their voices, insight and 
experiences guide my work. 

The pandemic has had a significant impact 
on older people throughout Wales, and has 
highlighted the need for a range of action to 
support older people’s recovery and deliver 
longer-term change to improve their lives, as 
set out in my Leave No-one Behind report and 
Manifesto for the 2021 Senedd Election. 

Playing my part to drive and deliver change 
for older people, I will be taking forward an 
extensive programme of work during 2021-22, 
focused on my three key priorities, as well as 
protecting and promoting older people’s rights:

Stopping the abuse of older 
people

•  Improving support services for people 
experiencing or at risk of abuse, 
and raising awareness amongst 
professionals, including training for 
public bodies. 

•  Leading partnership work with the 
Stopping Abuse Action Group, including:

•  Influencing the Welsh Government 
National Action Plan to prevent the 
abuse of older people. 

•  Work to empower and enable 
older people to share their 
experiences.

•  Research into the experiences 
of older men at risk of or 
experiencing abuse.

•  Developing work on older people 
living with dementia and their 
carers affected by abuse

Enabling everyone to age well

• Working with partners to ensure older 
people have support to rebuild or regain 
their health and well-being, as we 
transition through the pandemic 

•  Leading work with partners throughout 
Wales to make communities more 
age-friendly, including supporting local 
authorities to apply for World Health 
Organisation recognition for age-friendly 
communities. 

•  Championing digital inclusion amongst 
older people, promoting good practice 
and issuing guidance to public bodies to 
ensure older people who are not online 
can access the information and support 
they may need.

  
Ending ageism and age 
discrimination

•  Training for older people and 
professionals to empower them to 
recognise and challenge ageism. 

•  Challenging examples of ageism and 
age discrimination, including the way 
older people are portrayed in the media. 

•  Working with partners – including 
international partners – to tackle 
ageist attitudes in society and promote 
solidarity between generations. 

Protecting and promoting older 
people’s rights

•  Taking action with partners in Wales and 
across the UK to improve the rights of 
older people living in care homes 

•  Addressing the evidence gap on the 
specific issues faced by older people 
in   Black Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities by carrying out research 
and making recommendations for action

•  Exploring how the process and practice 
of Advance Care Planning could be 
improved so older people feel fully 
involved in decisions about their future 

Looking ahead
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Review of the 2020-21 Reserve Balance
I am funded by, but operate independently of, Welsh Ministers and Welsh Government and am 
accountable to the First Minister for the use of public resources made available to me. 

The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure shows for 2020-21 net expenditure of 
£1,470,000 (2019-20: £1,540,000). 

In 2020-21, I received funding of £1,482,000 (2019-20: £1,608,000).  

This financial year I requested to withdraw £1,482,000 from the Welsh Government, being 
£107,000 less than the £1,589,000 that was originally requested in my 2020-21 Financial 
Estimate and approved by Senedd Cymru in January 2020.  This variance has occurred for the 
following reasons: 

•  Savings on staff costs: due to the exceptional nature of the year, there has been a long- 
term vacant post within my organisational structure, which I have recently recruited for.  
In addition to this vacant post, there have been other vacancies for short periods of times 
throughout the year, which has led to additional savings on staff costs.

•  Savings on Work Programme: the COVID-19 pandemic significantly refocussed my work 
during 2020-21 away from undertaking research and publishing and promoting findings 
and guidance to directly working with and influencing key stakeholders and scrutinising 
their decision-making processes.  This shift in focus has led to a decrease in traditional 
areas of expenditure such as commissioning research; direct costs such as travel, 
translation, printing and distribution; and costs associated with events whereby I engage 
with older people and other key stakeholders.  

For 2021-22, I have planned a programme of work that will utilise the budget that I requested 
within my 2021-22 Financial Estimate and a significant part of my reserves/ historical cash 
balance.

Statutory reserves at the year-end were £312,000 (31 March 2020: £300,000). However, these 
amounts include elements of cash, prepayments (trade and other receivables), amounts due 
to creditors (trade and other payables) and provisions.  To understand the true value of the 
reserve, the following transactions should be considered to establish the effective reserve 
available:

Payments to 
creditors

Depreciation and 
prepayments

Balance 
remaining

£000 £000 £000 £000
Non-currents assets 21 - (21) 0
Trade and other 
receivables

54 - (54) 0

Cash 398 (161) - 237
Trade and other payables (72) 72 - 0
Provisions and deferred 
creditor

(89) 89 - 0

Reserves 312 0 (75) 237
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My 2021-22 Reserves Strategy has been 
updated to reflect that I will only employ the in-
year resources that the Minister of Health and 
Social Services has allocated to me to ensure 
the successful discharge of my statutory 
duties. 

I submitted my Financial Estimate for 2021-22 
to Ministers in October 2020. 

Website link: Commissioner’s Estimate 

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

22 July 2021

Therefore, available reserves at 31 March 
2021 was £237,000.

It is vital to consider the underlying level of 
reserves as opposed to the statutory reserves 
because this is the true amount that is 
available to me to respond to unplanned and 
urgent issues.

Reserves have enabled me to manage risk 
effectively, ensured business continuity 
and ensured the continuation of my ability 
to deliver against my statutory duties when 
faced with unforeseen and unforeseeable 
issues, either of a financial or service 
nature.  Therefore, being able to retain and 
manage my reserves has been key to my 
independence.  

In 2020, the Welsh Government proposed 
a new Financial Framework under which 
all Commissioners will be required to 
operate.  The most significant outcome of this 
Framework is that it will remove my ability to 
retain and manage a reserve balance, which 
poses a significant risk to my independence.  

Reserves allow me to act upon any unplanned, 
urgent and important issues that affect the 
lives of older people and are aligned to my 
statutory duties. Such additional costs are 
likely to be associated with legal proceedings 
and additional staff resources but are very 
difficult to quantify. 

In the future, in the instance of requiring 
additional funding to undertake a statutory 
review, I will need to request this additional 
funding from Welsh Government Ministers.  
This request for funding presents the potential 
for a conflict of interest as the statutory review 
may be into the actions of the Minister who 
would be authorising the additional budget.  

Therefore, I welcome an agreement from 
Welsh Government that will ensure that 
the potential for a conflict of interest in the 
instance of a request for additional funding be 
minimised. 

Breakdown of payments
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The volumes used over the course 
of the year are mainly attributable to 
the energy required to maintain my IT 
Infrastructure. 

• The graph shows the electricity usage 
over the past four years, demonstrating 
a year on year decrease, with a 62% 
reduction from 2017 to 2021. 

• In 2020, I secured a 100% green energy 
tariff to supply my office’s electricity.  I 
commit to only using energy tariffs that 
are sourced purely from renewable 
energy sources. 

• Carbon emissions – In recognition 
of the negative impact that carbon 
emissions continue to have on the 
planet, this year, I matched my 2019-
20 donation to offset carbon emission. 
The money is used to support projects 
around the world that reduce carbon 
emissions through avoidance measures 
and clean/renewable energy generation.  

• Waste Disposal – All desk bins have 
been removed to encourage staff to 
recycle as much as possible and there 
are recycling points throughout the 
office. The graph demonstrates a clear 
decrease in the volume of paper that 
was used and therefore recycled over 
the past four years.  During 2020-21, 

As 2020-21 was an unprecedented year, 
the reporting of the action taken under the 
sustainability policy will reflect that my staff 
have worked from home since 17 March 2020, 

For the majority of the year, the office was 
closed and all staff worked from home and 
held all meetings using virtual platforms. This 
meant that staff were not commuting to the 
office nor using different modes of transport for 
meetings, which has resulted in a significant 
decrease in the carbon footprint.  

There has been a dramatic decrease in waste 
disposal from the office, due to the small 
numbers of staff using the office for short 
periods of time, as well as in the volume of 
paper that has been sent to be recycled, as all 
staff worked in a more paperless way. Energy 
use has also been minimal as computers and 
lights in the office have not been significantly 
used. 

There have been clear positive environmental 
benefits from working in a different way in 
2020-21, which we will take forward into future 
years. The sustainability policy will therefore 
be reviewed in 2021 and updated to reflect 
different working practices such as members 
of staff working in a hybrid way. 

Below are highlights to note:

• Energy usage - as one of a number 
of tenants within a small office block 
it is not possible to have full control 
over the water and heat facilities.   
However, within my office there are 
thermostatically controlled valves on all 
the radiators, energy efficient LED light 
bulbs, and movement sensitive lighting 
in some areas. 

• Whilst there has been a significant 
decrease in the electricity usage over 
the past year, there is still a residual 
amount of electricity that has been used.  

Sustainability Report my staff have predominantly worked 
from home, therefore I cannot reliably 
evidence the volume of paper that has 
been disposed of or recycled during 
2020-21.    

•  Products - I use environmentally 
sound paper products such as re-
cycled paper and envelopes. The 
cleaning of the office is carried out 
using environmentally friendly cleaning 
products. 

•  Education – I am committed to running 
educational training sessions for 
members of staff on issues relating 
to sustainability and biodiversity. This 
includes how employees can contribute 
both during work hours and through 
their lives outside of the workplace.  

• Procurement – My procurement policy 
includes purchasing principles that state 
when ordering goods and services, 
individuals must consider Value for 
Money as the optimum combination of 
whole-of-life costs in terms of not only 
generating efficiency savings and good 
quality outcomes for the organisation, 
but also a benefit.

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

22 July 2021
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Accountability 
Report
My Accountability Report outlines the key features of how I manage the organisation. 

This section contains:

•  My Corporate Governance report which contains details of my Business Management 
Team and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and how I demonstrate compliance 
with good corporate governance. 

•  My Remuneration and Staff Report provides information on senior management 
remuneration, my fair pay disclosure and information relating to other employment 
matters. 

•  The Audit Report contains the final audit opinion on the financial statements from our 
auditor.

During his time at Careers Wales he advised 
and led on the merger of the previous six 
local Careers Companies to form one all-
Wales organisation.  He then worked with the 
Welsh Government to transfer the ownership 
of Careers Wales to become a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Welsh Government.  

Steve is a Director/Trustee of Carers Trust 
South East Wales and is currently the Chair 
of the Board of Directors. He has also been 
appointed as a member of the Greater Gwent 
(Torfaen) Pensions Fund Local Pension Board.

Claire Bevan

Claire is a Registered 
General Nurse 
with 38 years of 
experience, having 
retired as the 
Executive Director of 
Nursing & Quality in 
the Welsh Ambulance 
Services NHS 
Trust in December 
2019. She has extensive experience working 
across Health Boards and Trusts in NHS 
Wales in senior professional leadership and 
management roles.

Her personal journey over the last few years 
as a carer for a member of her family living 
with her, with Alzheimer`s disease, has led her 
to advocate for older people and carers.

Phil Davy

Phil was Head 
of Economic 
Development for 
Caerphilly County 
Borough Council 
10 years, managing 
a service area that 
covered business 

Working within the 
Commissioner’s Office
During 2020-21, I employed an average of 
20.29 full time equivalent staff (20.60 in 2019-
20). The Business Management Team working 
with me during 2020-21 comprised:

Kelly Davies  
Chief Operating Officer and Deputy 
Commissioner

Katie Holliday 
Head of Finance and Resources

Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee
I have an Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee to support me as Accounting 
Officer in monitoring and reviewing corporate 
governance, risk management and internal 
control systems. In 2020-21, the Committee 
consisted of five independent members.  
They participate in the Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee meetings, consider 
my performance management and reporting 
arrangements and maintain a critical overview 
of my financial controls and risk management 
procedure. 

Current members of the Audit Committee are:

Steve Harford (Chair)

Steve spent the 
last 18 years of his 
working career with 
Careers Wales from 
where he has retired 
from the role of 
Director of Corporate 
Services.  

Director’s Report
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Knowledge of the issues facing older people 
was gained from working in social services 
departments and as a Board Member of a 
Charitable Organisation in the older people’s 
care sector. In addition, he has several years’ 
experience as a Non-Executive Director (NED) 
including being a former Chair of Two Rivers 
Housing Association in Gloucestershire where 
services for older people were a key priority.

development, tourism, and regeneration. After 
43 years in local government service Phil 
retired from full time employment.

Phil has held a number of non-executive 
director roles with Careers Wales, Groundwork 
Caerphilly and Planning Aid Wales.

Julia Evans

Julia gained the 
Chartered Institute 
Public Finances 
& Accountancy 
qualification in 1987 
and worked in the 
public finance sector 
for 35 years, firstly 
in an external audit 
capacity for 20 years 
and then moving into public sector accounting.

Julia was the Deputy Chief Executive 
(Finance, Personnel and Corporate Services) 
of the General Teaching Council for Wales 
(GTCW) in January 2014.   The GTCW was 
reconfigured, and became the Education 
Workforce Council in April 2015, and Julia 
continued as Deputy Chief Executive (Finance, 
HR and Corporate Services) until retiring from 
that post in December 2018.

David Powell FCPFA

David has extensive 
public sector 
experience gained in 
Unitary, County and 
District Councils in 
England and Wales. 
For over 10 years 
he was a Finance 
Director and has also 
led various service 
and corporate areas. From 2013 until leaving 
local government in 2019 he was at Powys 
County Council where his roles included 
Strategic Director of Resources, acting Chief 
Executive and deputy Chief Executive. 

language will be treated on a basis of equality. 

I have continued to take all possible steps to 
promote the Welsh language by ensuring that 
all staff are aware of the history of the Welsh 
language, maintaining a number of bilingual 
staff, providing a bilingual casework service 
for older people, providing Welsh language 
lessons to all staff during work time and 
operating a bilingual working environment.

Website link: Welsh Language Standards

Strategic equality plan
The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted why 
protecting older people’s rights is crucial, and 
how easily people’s rights can be eroded. The 
pandemic has brought into sharp focus the 
inequalities that older people face every day, 
especially people from BAME communities, 
and recent months have demonstrated that 
ageism remains prevalent across society 
today, despite it being illegal to discriminate 
against someone because of their age. 

Rights should not diminish as people age. 
However, many older people find that their 
rights are not upheld as they grow older.  

Ensuring that older people’s rights are upheld 
and that older people are not discriminated 
against is central to my role as Commissioner. 
As the independent voice and champion for 
older people across Wales, I work to promote 
equality in all aspects of older people’s lives. I 
have a unique role to play in tackling ageism 
and discrimination in all its forms, and to 
ensure that others work to tackle these issues 
alongside me.

The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 
is a listed authority the under the Equality 
Act (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 
2011. This means that the office must follow 
what are called ‘general duties’ to promote 

Raising concerns 
In November 2016, the role of Commissioner 
became a ‘prescribed person’ under the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA) for 
matters relating to the rights and wellbeing 
of older people in Wales. The Public 
Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA) protects 
employees who blow the whistle, provided that 
the worker making the disclosure reasonably 
believes that it falls within the remit of the 
Commissioner and that the information 
disclosed and any allegations contained in it 
are substantially true.   

The Commissioner’s overriding concern is to 
protect the public interest. The Commissioner 
is not required to consider whether a 
disclosure qualifies for protection under PIDA 
and will not be able to provide advice on this. It 
would ultimately be for an employment tribunal 
to determine whether an individual has the 
protection under PIDA. The Commissioner’s 
role is to consider the matters disclosed to it. 

PIDA does not require my office to investigate 
every disclosure received as I can only 
investigate disclosures that fall within the 
scope of my statutory functions and within the 
parameters of my statutory powers. 

During 2020-21, no concerns were raised 
to me as a result of me being a ‘prescribed 
person’ (2019-20: nil). 

Welsh language
The Welsh Language Standards set out a 
number of ways in which I must provide and 
promote services through the Welsh language 
and facilitate and encourage its use in the 
workplace.

During 2020-21, I have complied with all 
Standards and have continued to demonstrate 
my commitment that the English and Welsh 

Corporate Reporting 
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General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
and the Data Protection Act 2018.   

Arrangements have been put in place to 
safeguard the security of information. This 
includes personal data held relating to 
enquiries made on behalf of individual older 
people in Wales, and evidence gathered by 
me in the carrying out of my functions. In 
2020-21, there was one data security incident 
(2019-20: nil), which did not require reporting 
to the ICO.

During 2020-21, I received five requests for 
information under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 (2019-20: 5). All requests were 
responded to within the prescribed timescales. 

I did not receive any Subject Access Requests, 
(2019-20: 3).  The 2019-20 requests were 
responded to within the prescribed timescales.

I.T.
During 2020-21, my I.T systems have been 
independently verified and I have been 
assured by IT specialists that they comply with 
the Cyber Essentials Plus Scheme, which is a 
government-backed cyber security certification 
scheme that sets out a good baseline of cyber 
security.  The scheme addresses five key 
controls that, when implemented correctly, can 
prevent around 80% of cyber-attacks.

Registers
I publish details of my own expenses, both 
direct and incurred on my behalf, on a 
quarterly basis on my website.  2020-21 has 
been an extraordinary year in that expenses 
claimed have been £0, however my historical 
expense claims are available on the website. 
My expenses are reviewed by my Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee at every meeting.

Website link: Commissioner’s Expenses

equality. My staff and I are committed to and 
fully supportive of the Equality Act and strive 
to embrace the Act in everything that the 
Commissioner does. I am also obliged in law 
to provide a Strategic Equality Plan which 
includes Equality Objectives against which I 
will have to deliver in four-year cycles.

During January and February 2020, I actively 
sought the views of older people and others 
on my proposed Strategic Equality Objectives 
2020-24. This feedback was reviewed, and 
final objectives were agreed, to be published 
on 1 April 2020. Due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the publication of my Strategic 
Equality Plan 2020-24 was postponed. The 
objectives have been further reviewed, and 
an updated version was published in October 
2020.

Website link: Equality Plan  

Pension arrangements
My directly employed staff and I are eligible 
for membership of the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme.  Further details are set out 
in the Remuneration and Staff Report.

Payment policy
I aim to comply with the UK Government’s 
Better Payment Code. The target is for 
payment to be made within agreed payment 
terms or 30 days of receipt of invoices not in 
dispute for goods and services received. 

Payment performance for the year averaged 
98.23% paid on time (99.07% in 2019-20). No 
interest was paid in respect of late payments. 

Information 
The protection of personal data is especially 
important, and during the year I have 
continued to work to ensure our compliance 
with data protection legislation including the 

Audit arrangements
These Accounts are audited by the 
Auditor General for Wales in accordance 
with paragraph 12 of Schedule 1 of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 
2006. The cost for the audit of the 2020-21 
accounts is £14,000 (£14,000 in 2019-20).

The current contract with Deloitte for 
Internal Audit services ended on 31 March 
2021.  Following a procurement process, 
in conjunction with the other Commissioner 
offices.  TIAA Ltd were successful in securing 
the contract to provide Internal Audit services 
for the next three years with an option to 
extend by a further two years.  

Events occurring after the 
reporting period
There were no significant events occurring 
between the year end and the approval of 
these accounts.

Disclosure of relevant 
audit information
As Accounting Officer, I have taken all 
necessary steps to ensure that I am aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditors are also aware of this 
information.

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

22 July 2021

I maintain a register of all gifts and hospitality, 
both accepted and declined, in the course of 
official duties. This is updated quarterly and 
published on my website.  These expenses 
are reviewed by my Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee at every meeting.

Website link: Gifts and Hospitality Register

Conflicts of interest
As part of their terms of appointment, all 
employees and members of my Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee are required to 
adopt the Nolan principles of public life. These 
principles, together with my corporate values 
and culture, underpin my Code of Conduct, 
which employees and Committee members 
must complete and keep up to date.

The Code of Conduct sets out that all 
employees and members of my Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee take steps to 
avoid conflicts of interest, by registering and 
declaring any conflicts between personal 
interest and the work of the Commissioner as 
they arise.  

A register of Financial and Other Interests of 
Committee members and Directors is available 
on my website. 

Website link: Register of Interests

Related party transactions
During 2020-21, neither myself, nor other 
members of my Business Management Team, 
or any of their family, were involved directly 
or indirectly in any transactions with the office 
during the year, apart from normal expense 
claims and salary payment.
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•  confirm that the Annual Report and 
Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced 
and understandable and take personal 
responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required 
for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

The First Minister has appointed me as 
Accounting Officer of the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales.  The responsibilities 
of an Accounting Officer includes responsibility 
for the propriety and regularity of the public 
finances for which the Accounting Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper records, and 
for the Commissioner’s assets as set out in 
the memorandum - ‘Managing Public Money’ 
- published by HM Treasury, and ‘Managing 
Welsh Public Money’, published by the Welsh 
Government.

As the Accounting Officer, I have taken all 
steps that I should to make myself aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish 
that Audit Wales’ auditors are aware of this 
information.  So far as I am aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the auditors 
are unaware.

As required by the Commissioner for Older 
People (Wales) Act 2006, I, as Accounting 
Officer, have prepared, for each financial year, 
an annual report and statement of accounts 
in the form and on the basis set out in the 
Accounts Directions issued by HM Treasury 
and Welsh Ministers, these documents are fair, 
balanced and understandable.  

The accounts are prepared so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs as 
at the year-end and of the net expenditure, 
financial position, cash flows and changes in 
taxpayers’ equity for the financial year then 
ended.  The annual report is fair, balanced and 
understandable.

In preparing the accounts, I am required 
to comply with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual and 
in particular:

•  observe the Accounts Directions, 
including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply 
suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis;

•  make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis;

•  state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; 

•  prepare the accounts on a going 
concern basis; and

Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
Responsibilities other public bodies, I have an Audit and Risk 

Assurance Committee (Committee) to support 
me by providing assurance regarding the 
Governance of the organisation including the 
propriety and regularity in the employment of 
public finances.

I am independent of Ministers and, subject 
to the 2006 Act, responsible for setting 
the strategic direction of my office. I am 
accountable to the Senedd Cymru for the 
actions of my office and the Public  Accounts 
Committee are able to scrutinise the accounts 
and the efficiency and effectiveness with which 
I employ the resources that are provided to me 
for the discharge of my statutory duties.

Purpose of the 
Governance Framework
Good corporate governance is fundamental 
to any well managed organisation. The 
governance framework within which I operate 
is underpinned by key systems, policies and 
processes through which the organisation is 
directed and controlled.

Systems of internal control are based on an 
ongoing process designed to:

•  ensure financial probity and regularity;

•  ensure that I comply with statutory 
duties; and

•  ensure that I am proactive in risk 
identification and evaluation and that I 
manage risk efficiently, effectively and 
economically.

These controls are designed to maintain the 
risks I face as the Commissioner within the risk 
tolerance levels that have been identified in 
the Risk Management strategy.  The controls 
are also designed to reflect my risk appetite.

Responsibilities
This Governance Statement sets out the basis 
of the statutory duties of the role of Older 
People’s Commissioner for Wales, the way in 
which the discharge of my duties is governed 
and managed, and how I, as Commissioner, 
am accountable for what I do.

Role of the Commissioner
The statutory office of the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales was established as 
a Corporation Sole under Section 1 of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 
2006. The statutory duties of the role are to:

•  promote awareness of the interests of 
older people in Wales;

•  promote the provision of opportunities 
for, and elimination of discrimination 
against older people in Wales;

•  encourage good practice in the 
treatment of older people in Wales;

•  keep under review the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the law affecting the 
interests of older people in Wales.

In carrying out these functions, I am 
responsible, as Accounting Officer, for putting 
in place appropriate arrangements for the 
management and control of resources, 
including sound governance arrangements 
and the identification and management of risks 
and opportunities. These responsibilities are 
set out in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
responsibilities.

As a Corporation Sole and the Accounting 
Officer, I hold personal responsibility for 
directing and controlling the organisation 
but may delegate the exercise of my 
functions to any member of staff. As I have 
no Corporate Board as might be found in 

Governance Statement
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Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee
I have an Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee to support me, as Accounting 
Officer, in monitoring and reviewing the 
effectiveness of my corporate governance 
framework including internal control, and risk 
identification and management systems.  With 
additional assurance provided by internal 
audit (Deloitte LLP) and external audit (Audit 
Wales). 

My Business Management Team and I provide 
the Committee with relevant, timely and 
accurate information.

Terms of Reference

The Committee operates within formal terms 
of reference, based on best practice guidance 
issued by the Treasury, which is reviewed 
annually. The minutes of the Committee 
meetings are published on my website to 
ensure greater transparency to my governance 
arrangements.

In line with the Committee’s Terms of 
Reference, members are issued with required 
papers, detailing agenda items six working 
days in advance of Committee meetings.

This year, the Committee has scrutinised a 
range of items including:

•  Strategic Risk Register

•  Commissioner’s quarterly Governance 
Reports

•  Annual Report and Accounts

•  Commissioner’s Estimate for 2021/22, 
including the Commissioner’s medium- 
term financial plan

•  Commissioner’s key policies including 
the Risk Strategy, Anti-Fraud and Money 
Laundering, and the Whistleblowing 
Policy

These internal control systems operate in an 
integrated manner, reflecting the importance 
of an integrated approach to governance and 
control. They can only provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance of effectiveness.

Governance Framework
Under the Commissioner for Older People 
(Wales) Act 2006, I must nominate a Deputy 
who may exercise the Commissioner’s 
statutory functions if the office is vacant or 
should I, at any time, be unable to discharge 
my duties. Kelly Davies, Chief Operating 
Officer, is my nominated Deputy. A financial 
scheme of delegation is contained within my 
Ordering Goods and Services Procedure, 
which is also available on my website.

My governance framework included three key 
sources of assurance during 2020-21:

•  An Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

•  An internal audit programme

•  A Business Management Team

These three sources of assurance assist me in 
discharging my statutory functions in a manner 
consistent with the principles appropriate to 
a Corporation Sole within the UK Corporate 
Governance Code and the Good Governance 
Standard for Public Services, i.e. consistent 
with the high standards expected from a 
publicly funded body.

As part of their terms of appointment, all 
employees and members of my Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee are required to 
adopt the Nolan principles of public life. These 
principles, together with my corporate values 
and culture, underpin my Code of Conduct, 
which employees and Committee members 
must complete and keep up to date.

strategic risk, due to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
and to provide stability and continuity to the 
Committee during these unprecedented times, 
the terms of Steve Harford and Phil Davy have 
been extended by a further year until March 
2022.  

Good practice requires me to regularly review 
and rotate the cumulative diversity, skills, 
knowledge and experience of my Committee 
members.  The Chair is my longest serving 
Committee member and, to March 2021, has 
served a term of five years.

Committee engagement
The Committee meets formally quarterly 
and attendance during 2020-21 has been 
via a virtual platform and papers have been 
circulated electronically.  Attendance at the 
meetings is summarised below:

May 
2020

Jul 
2020

Oct 
2020

Feb 
2021

Steve 
Harford 
(Chair)

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Clare 
Bevan

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Phil 
Davy

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Julia 
Evans

✓ ✓ X ✓

Dave 
Powell

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

During 2020-21, two Committee members 
provided me with independent support outside 
of the remit of the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee. 

During this extraordinary year, I invited the 
Committee to meet informally, every quarter, 
in addition to the formal meetings.  These 
meetings provided me with an opportunity to 
further utilise the Committees’ varied expertise 
during in depth discussions on specific 
operational and strategic areas that carried 

•  External and internal audit plans and 
reports

Membership

I appoint the Committee members for an 
initial four-year term, which can be extended 
for a maximum of four years.  In 2020-21, 
the Committee comprised five independent 
members with considerable experience of 
public and third sector organisations in Wales. 
During the year its membership was as 
follows:

•  Steve Harford (Chair) – former Director 
of Corporate Services for Careers 
Wales. Term of office commenced 1 
April 2016, appointed Chair 1 April 
2017.

•  Claire Bevan – former Executive 
Director of Nursing & Quality in the 
Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust. 
Term of office commenced on 1 April 
2020. 

•  Phil Davy – former Head of Economic 
Development for Caerphilly County 
Council. Term of office commenced 1 
April 2017

•  Julia Evans – former Deputy Chief 
Executive (Finance, HR and Corporate 
Services) of the Education Workforce 
Council. Term of office commenced 2 
January 2019.

•  David Powell – former Deputy Chief 
Executive at Powys County Council. 
Term of office commenced on 1 April 
2020. 

In March 2020, Steve Harford’s term of office 
was extended by one year, enabling him to 
serve one full term of office as Chair.  The 
intention of this extension was to provide 
continuity to the Committee whilst two new 
Members, Claire Bevan and David Powell, 
joined in April 2020.  Additionally, in recognition 
of the Commissioner’s increased level of 
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For 2020-21, the Committee considers that, 
based on the findings of the auditors and 
its own observations, it can provide me with 
a substantial level of assurance that the 
arrangements in place are appropriate and 
have been operating effectively. 

Therefore, it is my view that the Committee 
operates effectively and adds value to the 
systems of internal control and my wider 
strategic priorities.

Website link: Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee

Internal Audit
The role of internal audit is to provide 
independent and objective assurance on risk 
management, controls and governance. The 
assurance given by internal audit is a key 
element of the governance framework and is 
one of the key assurances that my Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee and I require as 
Accounting Officer.

The Strategic Risk Profile informs the focus of 
internal audit’s work and provides the evidence 
upon which the annual assurance statement 
on internal control is based.

Deloitte LLP provide my internal audit service. 
During 2020-21, they reviewed:

•  Financial systems, including Budgetary 
Control, Fixed Assets, Purchasing and 
Payments and Civil Service Pension 
Arrangements

•  Corporate Governance

•  Risk Management
Substantial assurance was provided by my 
internal auditors on all reviewed areas with 
no recommendations given.  However, I will 
continue to ensure that I constantly monitor 
internal systems and seek to continually 
improve them.

a high degree of risk.  The meetings also 
provided the Committee with the additional 
context and knowledge with which to assist me 
in discharging my statutory functions.  

In recognition of this period of heightened risk, 
Committee members have been updated in 
real time, by email, of any issues that arise. 

Committee’s review of the 
effectiveness of the Governance 
Framework

The Committee has noted in its Annual 
Report that as a result of the meeting that the 
Committee has with the internal and external 
auditors and the assurance level of the 
reports received from the auditors, they can 
provide me with assurance that neither audit 
team have concerns regarding the quality of 
information provided by the Commissioner.

As a result of its work in 2020-21, the 
Committee is content with the overall level of 
internal and external audit coverage. 

The Committee appraises its own 
effectiveness and operations each year.  
Annual reviews were completed by the Chair 
with the other members of the Committee. 
Following this meeting, the Commissioner 
undertook an annual review with the 
Chair. As a result of these discussions the 
Committee has concluded that it continues 
to operate effectively, noting that both the 
Commissioner and the Chair are able to 
confirm the commitment of the members and 
provide assurance on the effectiveness of the 
Committee.  

In addition to annually reviewing their own 
performance, the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee publish a formal statement 
annually on the extent to which they are 
satisfied with my overall levels of control 
of financial management, and the wider 
corporate governance and identification of risk 
and management processes. 

Risk Management
The risk and control framework is underpinned 
by the Risk Management Strategy and forms a 
key strand of the internal control and corporate 
governance framework. The risk framework 
complies with the main principles outlined 
within HM Government Management of Risk 
Principles and Concepts (Orange Book), 
taking into account the organisation’s size, 
structure and needs. There have been no 
reported departures from the Orange Book. 
My Risk Management Strategy acknowledges 
that it is not possible to eliminate all risk but, 
through the Strategic Risk Register, risks are 
recognised and managed and reduced to an 
acceptable level. The strategy also notes that 
whilst I am accountable for all risks, all staff 
have a role in identifying new potential risks 
and using the appropriate mitigating actions 
to reduce or eliminate risk.  The Strategy is 
reviewed annually and was last reviewed in 
January 2021.

The Orange Book can be accessed at: https:// 
assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/ 
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ 
file/815635/Orange_Book_Management_of_ 
Risk.pdf

A positive approach to risk management 
means that I am not averse to taking managed 
risks to achieve the priorities within my 
strategic plan. I will not only consider the risk 
of things going wrong, but also the impact of 
not taking opportunities or not capitalising on 
such opportunities. Conversely, I have a low-
risk appetite and therefore will not tolerate a 
high level of risk that would lead to failure to 
comply with governance, statutory duties and 
legal requirements.

The Strategic Risk Register is considered 
when identifying the priorities of the 
organisation, including the production of an 
annual Estimate and Business Plan. The 
priorities identified address how they will assist 
me and my Business Management Team in 
managing significant risks.

Deloitte’s annual report concluded that 
they ‘can provide the Commissioner 
with substantial assurance in relation to 
the organisation’s arrangements for risk 
management, governance and internal 
control.’

Business  Management 
Team
I work with my Business Management Team 
(BMT), which formally met monthly. The 
Business Management Team comprised 
the Chief Operating Officer and Deputy 
Commissioner, Kelly Davies, and the Head of 
Finance and Resources, Katie Holliday. 

As a group, the Business Management Team 
contribute to:

•  the assessment and management of 
risk and opportunities;

•  the development of my strategic aims 
and annual Business Plan;

•  the allocation, in an efficient and 
effective way, of financial, human and 
other resources to achieve those aims 
and objectives; and

•  the overall assessment of the ongoing 
performance of the organisation 

As Commissioner, I am accountable for any 
decisions made.

The BMT keeps its working practices and 
ongoing effectiveness under constant review. 
At the end of every BMT meeting the agenda, 
quality of papers and quality of discussion are 
reflected upon and actions for improvement 
are taken forward. 
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In January 2021, the register was again 
restructured in recognition of my remote 
working controls, and systems and processes 
becoming firmly embedded into the working 
practices of the organisation.  

Raising Concerns
My Raising Concerns policy details how 
members of staff can whistle blow if they 
suspect wrong-doing or dangers at work.

In the event that my staff or others raise 
concerns about the organisation that cannot 
be easily resolved, I have put in place 
appropriate governance measures that include 
a Raising Concerns Policy and a Complaints 
Policy. Any issues raised relating to the role of 
the Commissioner are referred to the Chair of 
the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee.

During 2020-21, no concerns were raised 
to me nor the Chair of Committee under my 
internal Raising Concerns policy (2019-20: nil).

During 2020-21, there were two formal 
external complaints made under the 
Complaints Policy, one upheld and one not 
upheld (2019-20: 2).  Following on from the 
upheld complaint, I have since reviewed and 
improved our working practices. 

Review of Effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have a legal duty to 
properly manage public resources and as a 
result I continuously review the effectiveness 
of my governance framework. This review 
is informed by the work of internal audit, my 
Business Management Team, assurances 
provided by my Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee and comments made by external 
auditors (Audit Wales), as contained in the 
management letter and other reports.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, internal 
audit provided substantial assurance regarding 
my systems of internal control and did not 
raise any recommendations.  

For the strategic risks that I have identified, 
internal audit has evaluated the effectiveness 
of the existing controls and risk management 
responses and have provided substantial 
assurance.

My Strategic Risk Register continues to 
reflect the current and emerging risks and 
challenges in the context of a rapidly changing 
environment. 

The cause, effect, controls and planned action 
to address risks within the risk register are 
monitored and formally reviewed monthly by 
BMT to ensure that the organisation continues 
to adapt to the changing environment and that 
all live risks are managed and future risks are 
identified with appropriate mitigating actions 
put in place.

These risks are also formally reviewed at 
the quarterly Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee.

The Committee are advised in real time of 
any escalation of risk to the Strategic Risk 
Register.

Impact of the Covid-19 risk 
on the Commissioner 
The cumulative effect of the risks associated 
with the Covid-19 pandemic has led to the 
organisations strategic residual risk being 
significantly higher than in previous years. 

Whilst the strategic risk register does not 
specifically identify Covid-19 as a risk, the 
effects of the pandemic underpinned all of 
the strategic risks and was reflected in the 
mitigating controls and planned actions.  

The significance of the pandemic on my 
work, both operationally and strategically, 
led to a review and resulting restructure of 
the Strategic Risk Register. This restructure 
ensured that Business Continuity and the 
effectiveness of staff became the key focus of 
the Strategic Risk Register. 

Throughout 2020-21, I revised, refined and 
monitored our strategic and work programme 
risks in accordance with my risk management 
strategy.

Commissioner’s opinion 
on Governance Statement
I have considered the evidence provided in 
this governance statement and it is my view 
that the overall governance and internal 
control structures and procedures have been 
appropriate to support my functions and 
priorities and have worked effectively up to the 
date of publication of this document.

The above governance framework has been in 
place for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 
the statement is prepared in accordance with 
Treasury guidance.

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

22 July 2021
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August 2022; I can be reappointed once 
for this post.  Unless otherwise stated, staff 
covered by this report hold open-ended 
appointments. There is no mandatory 
retirement age, although PCSPS rules on 
earliest pensionable age will apply.

I have in place mechanisms for performance 
appraisal to ensure that the contribution of 
individual employees is monitored at all stages 
of their employment with the organisation. 
I have implemented an organisational 
development programme to enhance capability 
and improve overall performance levels.

Early termination, other than for misconduct 
or resignation, would result in the individual 
receiving compensation as set out under the 
Civil Service Compensation Scheme.  

Remuneration (including 
salary) and Pension 
Entitlements 
(Subject to audit)

The following sections provide details of my 
senior staff and my remuneration and pension 
interests.

Single Total Figure of 
Remuneration
(Subject to audit)

‘Salary’ includes gross salary, overtime and 
any other allowance to the extent that it is 
subject to UK taxation. This report is based on 
accrued payments made by the Commissioner 
and thus recorded in these accounts. Neither I 
nor any member of my staff received benefits-
in-kind or any bonuses.

Remuneration Policy 
My salary is set by the Welsh Ministers 
in accordance with Schedule 1(3) of the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 
2006. I am eligible to join and have joined the 
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme. 

I set the salaries of directly employed staff.  A 
job evaluation exercise was last undertaken by 
an external HR organisation in 2017-18, which 
assessed employees’ job descriptions and 
benchmarked roles of the same band against 
each other to ensure fairness and equality 
within my organisational structure.  New roles 
that are identified and incorporated into my 
organisational structure are evaluated using 
the same benchmarking technique to ensure 
that they are appropriately graded.

Incremental increases to other staff salaries 
were awarded in line with contractual terms 
and conditions. 

In deciding if a cost of pay award should 
be awarded to staff, I take into account 
affordability within my own budget, inflation 
and the pay awards offered by Welsh 
Government and Welsh Government 
Sponsored Bodies.  After considering these 
factors, an inflationary cost of living pay-award 
increase of 2% was awarded in 2020-21 (1% 
was awarded in 2019-20). 

Service Contracts
Appointments of permanent members of 
staff, on terms and conditions set by me, are 
made on merit on the basis of fair and open 
competition.  Staff are not members of the 
Civil Service but are entitled to membership 
of the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme 
(PCSPS).

The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 
is a four-year term of office that ends on 20 

Remuneration and staff report Name and title Salary Pension 
Benefits1

Total

2020-21
£000

2019-20
£000

2020-21
£000

2019-20
£000

2020-21
£000

2019-20
£000

Heléna Herklots
Commissioner

90-95 90-95 35 35 125-130 125-130

Kelly Davies
Chief Operating Officer, Deputy 
Commissioner 

65-70 60-65 26 25 90-95 85-90

Katie Holliday
Head of Finance and Resources

45-50 40-45 26 20 70-75 60-65

(1) The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension multiplied 
by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less (the contributions made by the individual). The real increases 
exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a transfer of pension rights.

Pension Benefits
(Subject to audit)

Accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
as at 31/3/21

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age

CETV at 
31/03/21

CETV at 
31/03/20

Real 
increase in 

CETV

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Heléna Herklots
Commissioner

5-10 0-2.5 76 46 22

Kelly Davies
Chief Operating 
Officer, Deputy 
Commissioner 

10-15 0-2.5 133 113 10

Katie Holliday
Head of Finance 
and Resources 

10-15 0-2.5 144 126 12
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for officials show pension earned in PCSPS 
or alpha – as appropriate.  Where the official 
has benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha 
the figure quoted is the combined value of 
their benefits in the two schemes). Members 
joining from October 2002 may opt for either 
the appropriate defined benefit arrangement or 
a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension with 
an employer contribution (partnership pension 
account).

Employee contributions are salary-related 
and range between 4.6% and 8.05% of 
pensionable earnings for members of classic, 
premium, classic plus, nuvos and alpha.  
Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th 
of final pensionable earnings for each year of 
service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent 
to three years initial pension is payable on 
retirement. For premium, benefits accrue at 
the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable earnings 
for each year of service. Unlike classic, there 
is no automatic lump sum. Classic plus is 
essentially a hybrid with benefits for service 
before 1 October 2002 calculated broadly 
as per classic and benefits for service from 
October 2002 worked out as in premium. In 
nuvos, a member builds up a pension based 
on their pensionable earnings during their 
period of scheme membership. At the end of 
the scheme year (31 March), the member’s 
earned pension account is credited with 2.3% 
of their pensionable earnings in that scheme 
year and the accrued pension is uprated 
in line with Pensions Increase legislation.  
Benefits in alpha build up in a similar way to 
nuvos, except that the accrual rate is 2.32%.  
In all cases, members may opt to give up 
(commute) pension for a lump sum up to the 
limits set by the Finance Act 2004. 

The partnership pension account is an 
occupational defined contribution pension 
arrangement which is part of the Legal and 
General Mastertrust. The employer makes a 
basic contribution of between 8% and 14.75% 
(depending on the age of the member). 
The employee does not have to contribute, 
but where they do make contributions, the 

Pension benefits are provided through the 
Civil Service pension arrangements. From 1 
April 2015, a new pension scheme for civil 
servants was introduced – the Civil Servants 
and Others Pension Scheme or alpha, 
which provides benefits on a career average 
basis with a normal pension age equal to 
the member’s State Pension Age (or 65 if 
higher).  From that date, all newly appointed 
civil servants and the majority of those already 
in service joined alpha.  Prior to that date, 
civil servants participated in the Principal 
Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The 
PCSPS has four sections: three providing 
benefits on a final salary basis (classic, 
premium or classic plus) with a normal 
pension age of 60; and one providing benefits 
on a whole career basis (nuvos) with a normal 
pension age of 65.

These statutory arrangements are unfunded 
with the cost of benefits met by monies voted 
by Parliament each year.  Pensions payable 
under classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos 
and alpha are increased annually in line 
with Pensions Increase legislation.  Existing 
members of the PCSPS who were within 10 
years of their normal pension age on 1 April 
2012 remained in the PCSPS after 1 April 
2015.  Those who were between 10 years 
and 13 years and 5 months from their normal 
pension age on 1 April 2012 will switch into 
alpha sometime between 1 June 2015 and 
1 February 2022.  Because the government 
intends to remove discrimination identified by 
the courts in the way that the 2015 pension 
reforms were introduced for some members, 
it is expected that, in due course, eligible 
members with relevant service between 1 
April 2015 and 31 March 2022 may be entitled 
to different pension benefits in relation to 
that period (and this may affect the Cash 
Equivalent Transfer Values shown in this 
report).  All members who switch to alpha 
have their PCSPS benefits ‘banked’, with 
those with earlier benefits in one of the final 
salary sections of the PCSPS having those 
benefits based on their final salary when they 
leave alpha.  (The pension figures quoted 

their service in a senior capacity to which 
disclosure applies. 

The figures include the value of any pension 
benefit in another scheme or arrangement 
which the member has transferred to the Civil 
Service pension arrangements. They also 
include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their buying 
additional pension benefits at their own cost. 
CETVs are worked out in accordance with 
The Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer 
Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 and 
do not take account of any actual or potential 
reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime 
Allowance Tax which may be due when 
pension benefits are taken.

Real Increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that 
is funded by the employer. It excludes 
increases in accrued pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the employee (including 
the value of any benefits transferred from 
another pension scheme or arrangement) and 
uses common market valuation factors for the 
start and end of the period.

employer will match these up to a limit of 
3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the 
employer’s basic contribution). Employers also 
contribute a further 0.5% of pensionable salary 
to cover the cost of centrally provided risk 
benefit cover (death in service and ill health 
retirement). 

The accrued pension quoted is the pension 
the member is entitled to receive when they 
reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing 
to be an active member of the scheme if they 
are already at or over pension age. Pension 
age is 60 for members of classic, premium 
and classic plus, 65 for members of nuvos, 
and the higher of 65 or State Pension Age 
for members of alpha.  (The pension figures 
quoted for officials show pension earned in 
PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate.  Where the 
official has benefits in both the PCSPS and 
alpha the figure quoted is the combined value 
of their benefits in the two schemes but note 
that part of that pension may be payable from 
different ages).

Further details about the Civil Service pension 
arrangements can be found at the website 
www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk

Cash Equivalent Transfer 
Values 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) 
is the actuarially assessed capitalised value 
of the pension scheme benefits accrued by 
a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV 
is a payment made by a pension scheme or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement when 
the member leaves a scheme and chooses 
to transfer the benefits they have accrued 
in their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual 
has accrued as a consequence of their total 
membership of the pension scheme, not just 
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Staff report
(Subject to Audit)

Staff costs comprise:  

2020-21 2019-20
£000 £000 £000 £000

Permanent 
Staff

Contingent 
Staff

Total Staff 
costs

Total Staff 
costs

Salaries 692 117 809 782
Social Security Costs 71 12 83 73
Other Pension Costs 183 25 208 210
Total net costs 946 154 1,100 1,065

Included within staff costs is £12,300 (2019-20: £8,700) which relates to the remuneration of five 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Members.  During 2019-20 my Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee consisted of four members.   

The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) and the Civil Servant and Other Pension 
Scheme (CSOPS) - known as “alpha” - are unfunded multi-employer defined benefit schemes, 
but the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities. 

The scheme actuary valued the scheme as at 31 March 2016. You can find details in the 
resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation here.

For 2020-21, employers’ contributions of £194,000 were payable to the PCSPS (2019-20: 
£204,000) at one of four rates in the range 26.6% to 30.3% of pensionable earnings, based on 
salary bands. 

The Scheme Actuary reviews employer contributions usually every four years following a full 
scheme valuation. The contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the benefits accruing during 
2020-21 to be paid when the member retires and not the benefits paid during this period to 
existing pensioners.

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account: a stakeholder pension with an 
employer contribution. Employers’ contributions of £13,300 were paid to one or more of the 
panel of three appointed stakeholder pension providers. Employer contributions are age-related 
and range from 8% to 14.75%.  

Employers also match employee contributions up to 3% of pensionable earnings. In addition, 
employer contributions of £400, 0.5% of pensionable pay, were payable to the PCSPS to cover 
the cost of the future provision of lump sum benefits on death in service or ill health retirement 
of these employees.

Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the balance sheet date were £nil 
(2019-20 £1,000). Contributions prepaid at that date were £nil.

All of these contributions are included in Other Pension costs in the table on page 63. 

Staff Numbers 
(Subject to audit)

The average number of whole-time equivalent persons that I employed across the year 
(including senior staff) was as follows:

2020-21 2019-20
Permanent Staff 16.54 16.66
Fixed Term Appointments 3.75 3.94
Total 20.29 20.60

At the end of the financial period, the number of whole-time equivalent persons that I employed 
(including senior staff) was as follows:

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Permanent Staff 15.64 15.51
Fixed Term Appointments 3.00 3.94
Total 18.64 19.45

In the tables above, staff employed are reported as whole-time equivalent numbers.

Fair Pay Disclosure 
(Subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid Director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s 
workforce.  Total remuneration includes only salary and does not include severance payments, 
employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  

2020-21 Salary 2019-20 Salary
Band of highest paid director 
(Commissioner)

£90,000-£95,000 £90,000-£95,000

Median total remuneration £35,904 £33,600
Ratio 2.57 2.75

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid Director (the Commissioner) was £90,000-
£95,000 in 2020-21 (2019-20: £90,000-£95,000). This was 2.57 times (2019-20: 2.75) the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £35,904 (2019-20: £33,600). The ratio has 
decreased very slightly as the overall staff remuneration has increased at a faster rate than the 
Commissioner’s remuneration. 
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In 2020-21, no employee (2019-20: nil) received remuneration in excess of the role of 
Commissioner. Remuneration ranged from £23,256 to £90,000 (2019-20: £21,800 to £90,000). 

Gender Pay Gap 
(Not subject to audit)

The table below shows the median and mean hourly earnings of pay for my staff. 

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Female Male Female Male

Median Total £17.81 £19.63 £17.46 £17.55
Mean Total £21.55 £18.34 £20.66 £17.38

Workforce age statistics 
(Not subject to audit)

Headcount by age on 31 March 2021

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65 & over Undisclosed
1 3 10 2 3 0 0

Staff turnover 
(not subject to audit)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
No. Staff 3 1 2 5 3
Turnover 15.46% 4.65% 10.04% 24.27% 15.51%

The size of my organisation and therefore the available sample size skews the turnover values 
within the above table, as one person leaving the organisation represents a 5% turnover.

Further analysis of the staff turnover figures evidences that over a five-year period, of the 14 
members of staff who left the organisation, there were two retirements, four fixed term maternity 
cover contracts and eight resignations.  

The staff composition of my office by gender at the end of each financial year was as follows 
(not subject to audit):

In the images above, gender and salary breakdown are reported as actual numbers, the images 
show that the workforce is predominantly female and that there has been little movement in the 
staff composition between 2019-20 and 2020-21. 
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No member of staff or job applicant will 
receive unfavourable treatment on the 
grounds of gender, gender reassignment, 
sexual orientation, race, including ethnic or 
national origin, colour or nationality, religion or 
belief, including lack of belief, disability, age, 
marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or 
maternity, or any other relevant consideration, 
nor will any individual be disadvantaged by 
conditions or requirements which cannot be 
shown to be justifiable.

Staff Policies Regarding 
Disabled Employees
If requested, recruitment information would be 
provided in an alternative format such as large 
print, Braille or electronically; job applications 
are also accepted in alternative formats.  I 
would ensure that reasonable adjustments are 
made regarding arrangements for the interview 
and interviews will be held in the language of 
choice. 

Reasonable adjustments would be made, 
where possible, to prevent disabled people 
being placed at a disadvantage.  This relates 
not only to interviews and arrangements for 
new members of staff joining the organisation, 
but also for current members of staff returning 
to work following an injury or an illness. 

Impact of Covid-19 
on employee working 
practices
As the potential impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic became apparent throughout 
February 2020, I engaged extensively with 
staff concerning the possible changes to 
working practices. I made the decision to 
close the office on 17 March and for all staff 
to work from home until further notice. Due to 
the unprecedented pressures and uncertainty 
during this time, staff were informed that they 
were not required to work their contracted 

Sickness Absence
The average sickness absence rate per 
member of staff was 8.19 days (4.04 days 
in 2019-20).  The 2020-21 rate was higher 
than desirable and was attributable to a small 
number of staff who were on long-term sick. If 
the long-term absences, which are classified 
as being for more than four weeks, are 
removed from the average sickness absence 
rates then the 2020-21 rate was 1.53 days.  
The short-term sickness levels during 2020-21 
have been lower than in previous years due 
to Government imposed lockdowns and the 
improved hygiene standards, such as mask-
wearing and hand hygiene, enforced by the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  

I am committed to the health and wellbeing of 
my staff and have a comprehensive policy on 
sickness absence.  

Equal Opportunities and 
Diversity
My staff and I are committed to, and fully 
supportive of, the Equality Act and strive 
to embrace the Act in everything that the 
organisation does. I am committed to equality 
of opportunity and seek to employ a diverse 
workforce.  All applications are considered 
on the grounds that all job applicants should 
have equal opportunity for employment and 
advancement on the basis of their ability, 
qualifications and suitability for the work.

I recognise that discrimination in any form 
is unacceptable and I am committed to 
promoting and supporting equality.  I am 
committed to providing a working environment 
free from discrimination and all forms of 
bullying and harassment as well as ensuring 
every member of staff is treated fairly, with 
dignity and respect.

I am committed to providing equality of 
opportunity for all staff currently in my 
employment and any prospective candidates. 

All staff have since undertaken a DSE self-
assessment of their home working area and 
I have followed up any identified issues to 
ensure they have the necessary equipment to 
be able to operate effectively at home. 

Feedback on the support that I have provided 
to staff during this extraordinary time has been 
very positive and welcomed. 

Employee Engagement
I engage with all staff and they have the 
opportunity to influence and contribute to 
decisions that affect their working lives and 
environment.  New policies are presented 
to staff for feedback when they have been 
developed.

Employee policies are reviewed annually or 
biennially, as deemed appropriate. Any policies 
that have substantial changes are circulated 
to all staff for information and comment, 
otherwise the policy is saved centrally on my 
IT network for all staff to access.  All policies 
are equality impact assessed when they are 
introduced or if there are substantial changes 
to them. 

Employee Benefits 
I support employees in maintaining a work-
life balance via the operation of a flexi time 
system and provide opportunities for flexible 
working patterns. 

Following reassessment in May 2018, 
the organisation retained the Gold Small 
Workplace Health Award, which is valid for 
three years.  The Gold Small Workplace 
Health Award contributes to my recognition 
as being an exemplar employer and further 
enables staff to maximise their performance.  

I have continued to ensure that a 
comprehensive health and wellbeing 
programme is delivered throughout the year 
for all staff.  

hours if they were unable to do so. This 
initially allowed staff to adjust to their new 
working arrangements and it also supported 
them to achieve a positive work-life balance 
in the midst of a global pandemic.  Staff were 
required to log their hours worked, so that a 
record of actual working hours was kept. 

Working contracted hours was reintroduced for 
the majority of staff, bar those with childcare 
responsibilities, on 1 July. In recognition 
of the circumstances for those members 
of staff with childcare responsibilities, flexi 
was reintroduced on 20 July, the date that 
the schools would normally break up for the 
summer holidays.  

On news of the second national lockdown and 
in recognition of the additional home-learning 
support that is required for Foundation Phase 
pupils, I provided additional support for those 
members of staff  whose children were within 
Foundation Phase education, by again not 
requiring them to work their contracted hours 
from 11 January onwards. This agreement was 
in place until schools reopened for Foundation 
Phase pupils on 22 February 2021. 

In order to support staff that had exceptional 
circumstances, special leave was increased 
to 15 days paid leave for Covid-19 related 
issues during 2020/21.  If staff were unable to 
work their contracted hours, they were able to 
apply for paid special leave, and/or use annual 
leave, to make up the deficit. 

During this time, in order to ensure that all staff 
are fully engaged and have the information 
they need, from 20 March 2020 I have held 
twice weekly team meetings to update them 
on operational matters such as work planning 
and HR changes, to share and discuss the 
impacts on older people of the pandemic 
and the actions we needed to take, as well 
as to answer any questions. Informal ‘drop in 
and catch up’ sessions are also held weekly, 
enabling staff to share their experiences and 
help to manage their wellbeing. 
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Consultancy Expenditure
There was no expenditure on consultancy 
during 2020-21; (nil, 2019-20)

Compensation for Loss of 
Office (Subject to audit)
There were no compensation payments made 
in 2020-21; (nil, 2019-20)

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales

22 July 2021

During 2020-21, mental health and wellbeing 
was the main focus of supporting staff in the 
transition of working from home and managing 
through a pandemic. A number of workshops 
were delivered by external professionals 
focussing on the importance of mental health, 
equipping my staff with techniques to support 
them with the mental health impact of the 
pandemic. 

During 2020-21, I provided opportunities 
during work hours for all employees to receive 
Welsh language training, fully funded by the 
organisation.  

I have a free and confidential Employee 
Assistance Programme which is available to 
all staff.

Opportunities for learning and development 
are promoted to all staff, as well as access 
to benefits such as Childcare Vouchers and 
Cycle to Work Schemes.

The organisation continues to be an accredited 
Living Wage Employer. This accreditation 
means that every member of staff in the 
organisation earns at least the Living Wage. 
The Living Wage is based on the cost of living 
in the UK.

There has never been an instance whereby 
I have been required to negotiate with a 
trade union on behalf of staff nor have I been 
notified that any employees are currently 
members of a trade union. 

Off-Payroll Engagements
There were no off payroll engagements during 
2020-21; (nil, 2019-20.)

Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion, in all material respects, the 
expenditure and income in the financial 
statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by the Senedd and the 
financial transactions recorded in the financial 
statements conform to the authorities which 
govern them.

Basis of opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing in the UK (ISAs (UK)) and Practice 
Note 10 ‘Audit of Financial Statements of 
Public Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’. 
My responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of my report. I am 
independent of the body in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit of the financial statements in the UK 
including the Financial Reporting Council’s 
Ethical Standard, and I have fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. I believe that the audit 
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinions.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern
In auditing the financial statements, I have 
concluded that the use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate.

Opinion on financial 
statements
I certify that I have audited the financial 
statements of the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales for the year ended 31 
March 2021 under the Commissioner for Older 
People (Wales) Act 2006. These comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement 
of Cash Flows and Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayer’s Equity and related notes, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. 
These financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out 
within them. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and international accounting 
standards as interpreted and adapted by HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual. 

In my opinion the financial statements: 

•  give a true and fair view of the state 
of the Older People’s Commissioner 
for Wales as at 31 March 2021 and of 
its net expenditure, for the year then 
ended; 

•  have been properly prepared in 
accordance with international 
accounting standards as interpreted and 
adapted by HM Treasury’s Financial 
Reporting Manual; and

•  have been properly prepared in 
accordance with Welsh Ministers’ 
directions issued under the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) 
Act 2006.

The Certificate and independent 
auditor’s report of the Auditor 
General for Wales to the Senedd
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Report on other 
requirements

Opinion on other matters 

As legislation and directions issued to the 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales do 
not specify the content and form of the other 
information to be presented with the financial 
statements, I am not able to confirm that 
the other information in the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements (outside of the 
financial statements) have been prepared in 
accordance with guidance.

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken 
in the course of my audit, the other 
information given in the Performance Report 
and Accountability Report is consistent with 
the financial statements.

Although there are no legislative requirements 
for a Remuneration and Staff Report, the 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales has 
prepared such a report and in my opinion, 
that part ordinarily required to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance with 
HM Treasury guidance.

Matters on which I report by 
exception

In the light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the body and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, I have 
not identified material misstatements in the 
Performance Report, Accountability Report or 
the Governance Statement.

I have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters which I report to you if, in my 
opinion:

• proper accounting records have not 
been kept or returns adequate for my 
audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by my team;

Based on the work I have performed, I have 
not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant 
doubt on the body’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from when the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 
with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report other 
than the financial statements and my auditor’s 
report thereon. Legislation and directions 
issued to the Older People’s Commissioner 
for Wales do not specify the content and form 
of the other information to be presented with 
the financial statements.  The Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales is responsible for 
the other information in the annual report. 
My opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in my 
report, I do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. My responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If I identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, I am required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am 
required to report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are 
instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations. I design procedures in line 
with my responsibilities, outlined above, to 
detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. 

My procedures included the following:

•  Enquiring of management, the audited 
entity’s head of internal audit and those 
charged with governance, including 
obtaining and reviewing supporting 
documentation relating to the Older 
People’s Commissioner for Wales’ 
policies and procedures concerned with: 

•  identifying, evaluating and 
complying with laws and 
regulations and whether they were 
aware of any instances of non-
compliance;

•  detecting and responding to the 
risks of fraud and whether they 
have knowledge of any actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud; and

•  the internal controls established 
to mitigate risks related to fraud 
or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations.

•  Considering as an audit team how and 
where fraud might occur in the financial 
statements and any potential indicators 
of fraud. As part of this discussion, 

•  the financial statements and the audited 
part of the Remuneration Report are 
not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns;

•  information specified by Welsh Ministers 
regarding remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed; or

•  I have not received all of the information 
and explanations I require for my audit.

Responsibilities

Responsibilities of the Older 
People’s Commissioner for Wales 
for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement 
of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, 
the Older People’s Commissioner for 
Wales is responsible for preparing the 
financial statements in accordance with the 
Commissioner for Older People (Wales) Act 
2006 and Welsh Ministers’ directions made 
there under, for being satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view and for such internal 
control as the Older People’s Commissioner 
for Wales determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is 
responsible for assessing the body’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing 
as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless deemed inappropriate. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
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laws and regulations throughout the audit.

The extent to which my procedures are 
capable of detecting irregularities, including 
fraud, is affected by the inherent difficulty in 
detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of 
the Older People’s Commissioner for Wales’ 
controls, and the nature, timing and extent of 
the audit procedures performed. 

A further description of the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of my auditor’s report.

Responsibilities for regularity

The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 
is responsible for ensuring the regularity of 
financial transactions.

I am required to obtain sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income have been applied 
to the purposes intended by the Senedd 
and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them.

Report
I have no observations to make on these 
financial statements. 

Adrian Crompton
Auditor General for Wales
23 July 2021
     
Audit Wales // 24 Cathedral Road //
Cardiff, CF11 9LJ

I identified potential for fraud in the 
following areas: revenue recognition, 
posting of unusual journals and and 
management override of controls..

•  Obtaining an understanding of the Older 
People’s Commissioner for Wales’ 
framework of authority as well as other 
legal and regulatory frameworks that the 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales 
operates in, focusing on those laws and 
regulations that had a direct effect on 
the financial statements or that had a 
fundamental effect on the operations of 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales.

In addition to the above, my procedures 
to respond to identified risks included the 
following:

•  reviewing the financial statement 
disclosures and testing to supporting 
documentation to assess compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations 
discussed above;

•  enquiring of management and the Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee about 
actual and potential litigation and claims;

•  reading minutes of meetings of those 
charged with governance and the Audit 
and Risk Assurance Committee; and

•  in addressing the risk of fraud through 
management override of controls, 
testing the appropriateness of journal 
entries and other adjustments; 
assessing whether the judgements 
made in making accounting estimates 
are indicative of a potential bias; and 
evaluating the business rationale of 
any significant transactions that are 
unusual or outside the normal course of 
business.

I also communicated relevant identified laws 
and regulations and potential fraud risks to 
the audit team and remained alert to any 
indications of fraud or non-compliance with 

Financial 
Statements
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Financial Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the 
year ended 31 March 2021
  2020-21 2019-20
 Note £ 000 £ 000
Expenditure   
Staff costs 2 1,100 1,043
Other Operating Expenditure 3 347 462
Depreciation / Amortisation 3 12 13
Provision 3 11
Total Operating Expenditure 1,470 1,540

Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the 
year 1,470 1540

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations and there are no recognised 
gains or losses in either 2019-20 or 2020-21.

Statement of Financial Position for the year ended 31 
March 2021

31 March 2021 31 March 2020
Note  £ 000  £ 000  £ 000  £ 000

Non- current assets:
Computer equipment 4 7 11
Office equipment 4 9 12
Leasehold improvements 4 2 3
Intangible assets 5 3 7
Total non-current assets 21 33

Current Assets:
Trade and other receivables 6 54 53
Cash and cash equivalents 7 398 363
Total current assets 452 416
Total assets 473 449

Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables 8 (72) (70)
Total current liabilities (72) (70)

Total assets less current 
liabilities 401 379

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 9 (89) (78)
Deferred creditor 10 (0) (1)
Total non-current liabilities (89) (79)

Total assets less total 
liabilities 312 300

Taxpayers’ equity 312 300

General reserves 312 300

22 July 2021

Heléna Herklots CBE
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 
2021

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Note  £ 000  £ 000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net expenditure (1,470) (1,518)
Adjustments for non-cash transactions 3 23 14
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other 
receivables 

6 (1) 1

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other 
payables

8 2 (26)

Increase/(decrease) in Deferred creditor 10 (1) (1)
Net cash outflow from operating 
activities

(1,447) (1,530)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 0 (14)
Purchase of intangible assets 5 0 (1)

Net cash outflow from investing 
activities

0 (15)

Cash flows from financing activities
Funding from Welsh Government 1,482 1,608
Net financing 1,482 1,608

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
equivalents in the period

35 63

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period

7 363 300

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the period

7 398 363

Statement of Changes in Taxpayer’s Equity for the 
year ended 31 March 2021

General Reserve

1 April 2020 - 
31 March 2021

1 April 2019 - 
31 March 2020

£000 £000
Balance as at 1 April 300 232
Net expenditure (1,470) (1,540)
Total recognised income and expense 1,170 (1,308)
Funding from Welsh Government 1,482 1608

Balance as at 31 March 312 300
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Notes to the Accounts
1. Statement of Accounting Policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2020-21 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted for the public 
sector context. 

Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which has 
been judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The 
particular policies adopted by the Commissioner are described below. They have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items that are considered material to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared on an accruals basis under the historical cost convention.   
The Commissioner has not re-valued any assets as any revaluation adjustments, were not, in 
the Commissioner’s opinion material

1.2 Non-Current Assets

During 2020-21, the Commissioner’s Non-Current Assets policy has been reviewed and 
updated to ensure that the Financial Statements continue to provide reliable and relevant 
information.  The Commissioner’s policy was implemented in 2008 and due to inflation and 
other factors the purchase cost of assets have increased. Therefore, the change in threshold to 
£5,000 more accurately reflects the cost of higher value assets that have been capitalised.  The 
asset lives have been increased to reflect the longer warranties issued with higher value assets. 

.  This review has had the following effect on the Non-Current Asset policy: 

•  The non-current asset capitalisation threshold has been increased to £5,000 including 
irrecoverable VAT from £1,000 including irrecoverable VAT.  

•  The useful economic lives for all non-current assets is now 5 years.  The table overleaf 
reflects the change to policy.  

Useful Economic Life to 31st 
March 2020

Useful Economic Life from 1st 
April 2020

Leasehold improvements Term of the lease or to break 
clause up to a maximum of 5 
years

Term of the lease or to break 
clause up to a maximum of 5 
years

Office equipment 5 years 5 years

IT equipment 4 years 5 years

Intangible assets 4 years 5 years

The change in accounting policy has not been applied retrospectively, and opening balances 
have not been adjusted, as the effect of the policy change on the Commissioner’s financial 
statements is not material.

Non-current assets are included at cost as, in the opinion of the Commissioner, any adjustments 
arising from revaluation would not be material. 

All non-current assets are owned by the Commissioner.

1.3 Tangible Non-Current Assets

The minimum level for capitalisation of a tangible non-current asset is £5,000 inclusive of 
irrecoverable VAT. 

Title to all property is held by the Commissioner. All property occupied by the Commissioner is 
leased. 

Tangible non-current assets are not revalued as, in the opinion of the Commissioner, the 
amounts involved would not be material. 

1.4 Intangible Non-Current Assets

The minimum level for capitalisation of an intangible non-current asset is £5,000 inclusive of 
irrecoverable VAT. 

Software licences and information technology software are capitalised as intangible non-current 
assets and amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives (normally five 
years).

1.5  Depreciation / Amortisation

Depreciation / amortisation is provided at a rate calculated to write off the tangible non-current 
assets by equal instalments over their estimated useful lives.  Depreciation is provided from the 
date the asset commences its useful life.
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1.6 Income, Funding and Expenditure

The main source of funding for the Commissioner is from Welsh Government via an annual 
funding allocation. 

The accruals basis of accounting means that income and expenditure disclosed in the accounts 
are accounted for in the year that it takes place, not when cash payments are made or received. 

Expenditure is that which relates directly to the activities of the Older People’s Commissioner 
for Wales.  The Commissioner’s office operates in Wales and deals with the issues that impact 
upon older people in Wales. The Commissioner has only one operational segment as reflected 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and associated notes. 

The Commissioner is not registered for VAT. All expenditure is reported inclusive of VAT where 
applicable, as VAT is irrecoverable.

1.7 Reserves

Reserves enable the Commissioner to manage risk effectively and ensure business continuity 
and continuation of her ability to deliver against her statutory duties when faced with unforeseen 
and unforeseeable issues, either of a financial or service nature.

1.8 Foreign Exchange

Transactions that are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the 
exchange rate ruling on the date of each transaction. Foreign currency imprests are translated 
into sterling at the exchange rate ruling at the time of funding. 

1.9 Pensions

The Commissioner and directly employed staff are eligible for membership of the Principal 
Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). It is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit 
scheme. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the net expenditure account when due 
for payment in the resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation.  http://www.
civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/

1.10 Operating Lease Charge

Lease payments are recognised as an expense and charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

1.11  Provisions

The Commissioner provides for legal or contractual obligations which are of uncertain timing 
or amounts at the statement of financial position date, on the basis of best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation.

The Commissioner’s dilapidations provision represents an estimate of the costs the 
Commissioner will incur in making good its leased properties at the end of the lease. This figure 
has been provided using an estimate of costs from a local contractor.

1.12  Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Commissioner drew funding regularly during the year, which is deposited in the 
Government Banking Service account upon receipt. Monies are drawn down into a commercial 
bank account to pay liabilities as they fall due. Petty cash is also held at the Commissioner’s 
office. 

1.13 Employee Benefits

Salaries and national insurance contributions for current employees are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure as the employees’ services are rendered. The 
Commissioner accounts for paid annual leave as a liability where the compensation for absence 
is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the service.

1.14      Accounting Standards Issued, Not Yet Effective:  

In January 2016, IFRS 16 – Leases was issued, and is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 April 2022.  This accounting standard will apply from 2022-23 and is not reasonably 
estimable at this stage.

The implementation of this standard has been delayed from 2021-22 due to Covid-19.  

IFRS 16 will replace the current leases standard IAS 17 and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for leases with a term of more than 12 months unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to 
use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease 
payments. As a consequence, a lessee also recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset 
and interest on the lease liability and classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a 
principal and interest portion. This is a significant change in lease accounting and will have a 
material effect on the Commissioner’s accounts Financial Statements. 

In May 2017, IFRS17 - Insurance contracts was issued, and is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.  This accounting standard will apply from 2023-
24 and it is not anticipated that the Commissioner’s Financial Statements will be impacted by its 
issuance.
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2.  Staff costs comprise:  
2020-21 2019-20

 £000  £000 £000  £000
Permanent 

Staff
Contingent 

Staff
Total Staff 

costs
Total Staff 

costs
Salaries 692 117 809 782
Social Security costs 71 12 83 73
Other Pension Costs 183 25 208 210
Total net costs 946 154 1,100 1,065

A breakdown of staff costs is included within the Remuneration & Staff Report on page 66.

3. Other Operating Expenditure
Other operating expenditure consists of:

Note 2020-21
£000

2019-20
£000

Rentals under operating leases 71 71
Other accommodation costs 67 78
Information technology 58 59
Professional fees 47 43
Training & development 5 15
Travel & subsistence 6 11
Audit fees – Internal audit 8 7
Audit fees – External audit 14 14
Specific Programmes 46 112
Other administrative expenses 25 52

347 462

Non-cash items:
Depreciation 4 10 8
Amortisation 5 8 5
Provision 9 11 0

23 13

Total 370 475

Specific Programmes

The table below provides a breakdown of the Commissioner’s work programme expenditure 
during the first two years of her strategic plan ‘Making Wales the best place in the world to grow 
older.  The expenditure disclosed does not include any apportionment of Commissioner’s staff 
salary costs and reflects additional direct costs only.

Strategic priority area 2020-21
£000

2019-20
£000

End Ageism and Age Discrimination 1 34

Stop the Abuse of Older People 23 17

Enable everyone to Age Well 22 47

State of the Nation 0 14

Total 46 112

Expenditure on traditional programme areas during 2020-21 has been significantly less than 
in previous years.  This is because the COVID-19 pandemic significantly refocussed the 
Commissioner’s work away from undertaking research and publishing and promoting findings 
and guidance to directly working with and influencing key stakeholders and scrutinising their 
decision-making processes.  This shift in focus has led to a decrease in traditional areas of 
expenditure such as commissioning research; direct costs such as travel, translation, printing 
and distribution; and costs associated with events whereby the Commissioner engages with 
older people and other key stakeholders.  

For 2021-22 and onwards the Commissioner has developed an 18-month business plan in 
which it is anticipated a return to historical programme expenditure levels will be achieved. 
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4. Tangible non-current assets
Computer 

Equipment
Office  

Equipment
Leasehold 

Improvements
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation 
At 1 April 2020 35 32 279 346
Additions 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2021 35 32 279 346

Depreciation and 
impairment
At 1 April 2020 24 20 276 320
Charged in the 
year 4 3 1 8
Disposals 0 0 0 0
At 31 March 2021 28 23 277 328

Net book value at
31 March 2021

7 9 2 18

Net book value at
31 March 2020

11 12 3 26

The non-current asset policy was reviewed and updated during 2020-21. The useful economic 
life of an asset is now set at 5 years and the capitalisation threshold is now £5,000.

The impact of this change on the net book values of tangible non-current assets is minimal.  If 
the changed accounting policy were to be actioned retrospectively the net book value of tangible 
non-current assets at 31 March 2021 would be £8,000 rather than £18,000.  Therefore, the 
Commissioner does not consider the effect of the change in accounting policy to be material 
and opening balances have not been adjusted.  

There has been no impairment of any assets and they are shown at cost which is considered to 
be the ‘fair value’.

5. Intangible Non-Current Assets
Software 
Licences

Information 
Technology

Total

£000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2020 46 68 114
Additions 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0
At 31 March 2021 46 68 114

Amortisation
At 1 April 2020 46 61 107
Charged in the year 0 4 4
Disposals 0 0 0
At 31 March 2021 46 65 111

Net book value at 
31 March 2021

0 3 3

Net book value at 
31 March 2020

0 7 7

The non-current asset policy was reviewed and updated during 2020-21. The useful economic 
life of an asset is now set at 5 years and the capitalisation threshold is now £5,000.

The impact of this change on the net book values of intangible non-current assets is less than 
£1,000.  Therefore, the effect of the change in accounting policy is not material, policy has not 
been implemented retrospectively and opening balances have not been adjusted. 

6. Trade receivables
31 March 2021 31 March 2020

 £000 £000
Amounts falling due within one 
year:
Trade receivables 0 0
Prepayments and accrued income 54 53

54 53

A prepayment is an amount paid in advance, usually for items such as rates or rent.  It is initially 
recognised as an asset and is expensed in the period when the benefit is received. 

There were no receivables falling due after more than one year. 
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7. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2020-21

£000
2019-20

£000
Balance at 1 April 363 300
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances 35 63
Balance at 31 March 398 363
The following balances at 31 March were held at:
Government Banking Service 188 7
Commercial banks and cash in hand 210 356
Balance at 31 March 398 363

8. Trade Payables and Other Current Liabilities
31 March 2021

£000
31 March 2020

£000
Amounts falling due within one year  
Trade payables 2 9
Accruals 70 61

72 70

9. Provision for Liabilities and Charges
31 March 2021

£000
31 March 2020

£000
Balance at 1 April 78 78
Provided in year 11 0
Provision utilised in year 0 0
Balance at 31 March 89 78

This provision wholly relates to the dilapidation charge for the office during the term of the lease 
and on the termination of the lease. 

In accordance with IAS 37, this provision is reviewed annually.   

10. Deferred creditor
31 March 2021

£000
31 March 2020

£000
At 1 April 1 4
Accrued expenditure during the year 0 0
Released to Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure Account during year

(1) (3)

Balance at 31 March 0 1

The Commissioner holds a five-year operating lease in respect of office accommodation, which 
includes a variable rental over the life of the lease, and a break without prejudice at year three 
in August 2021. Operating costs are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term in 
accordance with IAS 17. The deferred creditor will release fully in year three of the lease.

11.  Commitments Under Leases

Operating leases

Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below 
analysed according to the period in which the lease expires.

31 March 2021
£000

31 March 2020
£000

Obligations Under Operating Leases Comprise:
Land and buildings:
Expiry within one year 69 69
Expiry after one year but not more than five years 94 25
Later than five years 0 0

163 94

The Commissioner holds a lease on one office in Cardiff Bay.  The lease has been agreed for 
a term of five years from 5 August 2018 with an option to break the lease in year three (August 
2021).

Pre-pandemic, it was anticipated that the Commissioner would activate the lease break clause 
in 2021, which is reflected within the 31 March 2020 obligations.  As the Commissioner was not 
able to foresee her future office requirements it was decided not to activate the break clause 
and she remains committed to the lease until August 2023. 

The rent payable was set for the initial three years of the term with years four and five to be 
agreed during 2021-22. As the break clause was not activated the value of the extended lease 
will be reviewed in-line with open market value following inspection by an independent surveyor. 

HMT have recently confirmed that IFRS16 issued in January 2016, will not now become 
effective until 1 April 2022. This will require that all leases with a lease term of more than 12 
months be recognised as assets and liabilities in the financial statements.  

12. Financial Instruments
As the Commissioner’s cash requirements are met through funding provided by the Welsh 
Government, financial instruments (investments, derivatives and other financial instruments) 
play a more limited role in creating risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.

The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the 
Commissioner’s expected purchase and usage requirements and the Commissioner is therefore 
exposed to little credit, liquidity, interest rate or foreign currency risk.

There is no material difference between the book values and fair values of the organisation’s 
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financial assets and liabilities as at 31st March 2021.

13. Finance Leases and PFI Contracts
There are no obligations under finance leases or PFI contracts (2019-20: nil). The 
Commissioner has not entered into non-cancellable contracts which are leases or PFI contracts 
(2019-20: nil).   

14.  Contingent Liabilities Disclosed Under IAS 37
The Commissioner has not incurred any contingent liabilities that are not disclosed elsewhere in 
these accounts (2019-20: nil).

15. Related-Party Transactions
In 2020-21, the Commissioner received funding of £1,482,000 from the Welsh Government 
(2019-20: £1,608,000). 

The Welsh Government is regarded as a related party.

During 2020-21, neither the Commissioner, nor other members of the Business Management 
Team, or any of their family, were involved directly or indirectly in any transactions with the office 
during the year, apart from normal expense claims and salary payments.

16. Events After the Reporting Period 
There were no significant events occurring between the year end and the approval of these 
accounts.

These financial statements were authorised for issue on 22 July 2021 by Heléna Herklots CBE.
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